LOCALIZING CHEMOTHERAPEUTIC DRUG RELEASE THROUGH THE USE OF POLYMER-BASED SURGICAL SEALANTS TO TREAT STAGE III COLORECTAL CANCER

Abstract

Current cancer treatments, such as systemic chemotherapy, induce several complications that affect the entire body; localizing chemotherapy to the tumor site has the potential to minimize harmful side effects. Solution blow spinning (SBS) offers the possibility of incorporating chemotherapy drugs into a polymer solution through the use of a compressed airbrush. This would allow for direct deposit of a polymer mat after surgically removing the tumor. Sutures, in combination with polymer sealants, could be used to prevent complications after surgery. This study focuses on stage IIIA colorectal cancer because cancer cells have not spread distantly yet, and treatment typically involves surgery followed by chemotherapy. Three key aims were addressed in this study to assess polymer-drug combinations' compatibility with SBS, observe drug release patterns, and evaluate the effect of drug incorporation on polymer adhesion to intestinal tissue. Our results suggested that the polymer-drug combination of poly(L-lactide-co-\varepsilon-caprolactone) (PLCL) and capecitabine shows promise as an adhesive surgical sealant with a drug release pattern that is complementary to a typical resection healing timeline.

Localizing Chemotherapeutic Drug Release Through the Use of Polymer-Based Surgical Sealants to Treat Stage III Colorectal Cancer

Team TUMOR

Anthony Atalla, Morgan Coley, Matthew Hamers, Nima Karodeh, Jennifer McGrath, Eva Minahan, Matthew Nagler, Yomna Nassar, Alison Nichols, Ria Sebastian, Matthew Tiberino, Kevin Wendeu-Foyet **Team Mentor**: Dr. Peter Kofinas

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the Gemstone Honors Program at the University of Maryland, College Park 2021.

Committee:

Dr. Mohammed Al-Sheikhly

Dr. John Daristotle

Dr. Isabel Lloyd

Dr. Giuliano Scarcelli

© Copyright by

Team TUMOR

Anthony Atalla, Morgan Coley, Matthew Hamers, Nima Karodeh, Jennifer McGrath, Eva

Minahan, Matthew Nagler, Yomna Nassar, Alison Nichols, Ria Sebastian, Matthew

Tiberino, Kevin Wendeu-Foyet

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank our mentor Dr. Peter Kofinas, for his continued support and guidance. We would also like to extend a special thank you to our past mentors, Dr. John Daristotle and Dr. Omar Ayyub, for their expertise in the early stages of our research. We are thankful for the assistance from members of the Kofinas Lab, namely Mr. Metecan Erdi. Thank you also to Mr. Jordan Sly for his guidance as our team librarian. We would like to acknowledge our generous donors from LaunchUMD as well as the Do Good Institute and Great Foundation for their financial support throughout this process. We are grateful to the Gemstone Staff—Dr. Frank Coale, Dr. David Lovell, Dr. Kristan Skendall, Dr. Leah Tobin, Dr. Vickie Hill, and Ms. Jessica Lee—for the opportunity to engage in extensive, interdisciplinary research as undergraduate students. Thank you to our discussants for reviewing and providing feedback on our thesis and to the team's family and friends for their continuous support.

Table of Contents

Chapter One: Introduction	1
Research Problem	1
Relevance	2
Current Treatments	3
Main Research Question	4
Chapter Two: Literature Review	6
Introduction	6
Colorectal Cancer	7
Surgical Process	8
Chemotherapeutic Agents	10
Polymers	10
Molecular Weight	11
Cross Linkages/Polymer Tacticity/Porosity	12
Effects of Polymer Processing	13
Drug and Polymer Interactions	14
Solution Blow Spinning	18
Mathematical Models of Drug Release	18
Conclusion	22
Chapter 3: Materials and Methodology	23
Polymers for Use in Surgical Sealants	23
Aim I Methodology	24
Aim II Methodology	27
Aim III Methodology	29
Chapter 4: Results	31
Morphological Analysis of Blow-Spun Fibers	31

Drug Release Trials	33
Mass Degradation Study	37
DMA Pull-Off Testing	38
Chapter 5: Discussion	40
PLCL and PLGA with incorporated drug are compatible with SBS	41
Various polymer-drug combinations display different release patterns	41
Degradation and adhesion of polymers are not impacted by incorporation of drug	47
Chapter 6: Future Directions	51
Appendix A: Abbreviations	53
Appendix B: Equity Impact Report	54
Commitment to Equity	54
Commitment to Accessibility of Research	56
Commitment to Diversity	57
Appendix C: COVID-19 Impact	58
References	60

Chapter One: Introduction

Research Problem

Current common cancer treatments such as systemic chemotherapy, which targets the whole body, cause adverse side effects including pain, fatigue, and vomiting. Recurrence is also common, resulting in patients having to endure these side effects several times [1]–[3]. Optimizing a targeted chemotherapy delivery system to reduce recurrence and side effects has been a major scientific goal. Localized drug delivery devices have a promising potential for cancer therapy, distinguishing themselves from traditional treatments due to their ability to provide local anticancer activity with minimal systemic side effects.

Team TUMOR aimed to incorporate chemotherapeutic agents into polymer-based surgical sealants sprayed directly onto tumor resection sites using a polymer fiber deposition technique called solution blow spinning (SBS). Team TUMOR focused their research efforts on colorectal cancer as it is presently being treated with both chemotherapy and resection upon reaching stage III. Currently, blow-spun sealants are used to close wounds from intestinal anastomosis, a common procedure following colorectal cancer resection. Factors such as metastasis and recurrence rate make colorectal cancer an ideal candidate for developing the chemotherapeutic polymeric sealant. Team TUMOR hypothesized that the combination of the blow-spun polymer sealant, which would reduce anastomotic leakage and thereby reduce recurrence [1], along with the chemotherapeutic drug incorporation to treat residual cancer stages, stage III is the most applicable to use in researching a chemotherapeutic surgical sealant because metastasis is typically not present in stage III. The absence of metastasis is beneficial because metastasis would increase the chances of recurrence and compromise other organs in the body, making the sealant a relatively ineffective form of treatment [2].

Relevance

In any given year, over 140,000 people (roughly 8.1% of all new cancer cases in the U.S.) are diagnosed with colorectal cancer, making it the fourth most common new cancer diagnosis [3]. That gives a rate of more than approximately 400 new colorectal cancer diagnoses each day. In addition, colorectal cancer accounts for about 50,600 deaths annually, roughly 8.3% of all cancer deaths [3]. This statistic gives a rate of over 100 deaths per day due to colorectal cancer. Taking these figures into consideration and acknowledging the widespread nature of this particular type of cancer justifies researching ways to improve existing treatments.

A patient's colorectal cancer stage can be divided into three subcategories: localized, regional, and distant. Localized cases are confined to the primary site and account for 39% of cases [3]. Regional cases constitute another 35% of all cases and occur when cancer has spread to the regional lymph nodes, small glands surrounding organs [3]. With such high levels of localized and regional diagnoses, improving localized drug delivery to tumor sites could greatly reduce the prevalence of colorectal cancer recurrence.

Current Treatments

There is a wide variety of current cancer treatment methods, the most prominent being surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, or combinations of the three [4]. Systemic chemotherapy, such as the use of fluorouracil-based adjuvants, or drugs often used in conjunction with fluorouracil, and others like oxaliplatin and irinotecan, typically come with many side effects [5]. A study on self-reported side effects in cancer patients not in clinical trials reported that 86% of patients felt at least one side effect after receiving chemotherapy, with 67% feeling six or more side effects. Around one-third of patients (35%) experienced a moderate (grade III out of IV) side effect at least once in the study, while 27% experienced severe (grade IV) side effects at some point [5].

Surgical tumor resection is another standard cancer treatment, but often surgery alone cannot remove the entire tumor. In stage III colorectal cancer, cancer is still found on the lymph nodes after surgery in 45% of patients, 33% of patients will have a recurring disease, and there is a 70% chance of mortality in 5 years following surgery [6]. Although surgery is a viable option for treatment, surgery alone may not be adequate.

Radiation therapy is not as successful as surgery; however, preoperative radiotherapy is more successful than postoperative radiotherapy and reduces failure by 50–70% [7]. Similar to chemotherapy, the effects of radiation therapy are not localized. Therefore its widespread toxic effects justify a search for cancer treatments that are less harmful to the body as a whole.

Other treatments include some combination of the treatments previously described, also known as combined modality therapy. There are three main types. The first is adjuvant chemotherapy, the use of chemotherapy after the tumor is removed by surgery or radiotherapy, reducing the need for further surgery. In stage III colorectal cancer, fluorouracil and levamisole given after surgery reduce recurrence rate by 40% and death rate by 33% [4]. However, the recurrence rate in stage III colorectal cancer is still 30% for this treatment; if adjuvant chemotherapy is somewhat successful, then providing localized therapy after surgery, instead of chemotherapy, could lower the recurrence rate further [8]. Chemotherapy before radiation or surgery, also known as induction chemotherapy, aims to reduce the tumor so that surgery becomes less or no longer necessary; however, it creates an unpredictable response that may make surgery a nonviable option altogether and reduce chances of success [4]. Unlike induction surgery, in which surgery follows chemotherapy, the therapy being researched is used in conjunction with surgery and therefore mitigates the chance of an unpredictable result. The third form of combined modality therapy, concomitant therapy, is most similar to the treatment being researched because two treatments are used simultaneously [4]. Such a treatment plan may cause unpredictable side effects due to how the different treatments interact. For example, the localized effect of treatment on a body still recovering from surgery could present a potential challenge in the research. Stage III colorectal cancer is most likely to be treated with a combination of surgical intervention and systemic chemotherapy, however, still justifying the research being proposed [9].

Main Research Question

The principal research question is: What is the most effective way to incorporate a chemotherapeutic agent into a surgical sealant to deliver therapeutics over a certain time and maintain adhesion in an effort to prevent tumor recurrence for those individuals

diagnosed with stage III colorectal cancer? The following subsidiary research questions pertain to each aim of this research:

Aim 1: What polymer and drug combination is suitable for this application of solution blow spinning?

In aim 1, experiments focused on testing physical properties, such as solubility and biodegradability. These results helped determine the ideal drug and polymer combination for blow spinning.

Aim 2: How does the polymer-drug combination affect drug release?

In aim 2, studies focused on observing the release time of drugs integrated into a polymer. The goal was to identify the polymer-drug combination that best mimicked the ideal release pattern for chemotherapy.

Aim 3: How does the incorporation of chemotherapy drugs affect the mechanical properties of the polymer?

In aim 3, the mechanical properties of the polymer and drug combination were tested. The answer to this question was determined by conducting *ex vivo* experiments assessing the sealant's success in a typical physiological environment.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

Introduction

Previous innovations in oncological research have produced colorectal cancer treatments with adverse side effects, such as nausea, vomiting, and extreme pain [5]. When using these conventional methods, the patient may experience several side effects due to incompatibility between different treatments [4]. These treatments, such as systemic chemotherapy and surgery, are stressful on the body, hindering healing and making recurrence more likely [10]. While the methods explored by this project involve the surgical process, the chemotherapy is localized to the resection site, potentially reducing systemic side effects. Anastomosis in the existing combined therapy requires resection of the tumor and subsequent suturing of the colon to allow post-operative healing. However, patients treated this way often experience anastomotic leakage, which requires additional procedures involving repair [1]. The fibers' morphology in this proposed experimental design has proven capable of adhering to tissue, and may not cause the same complications as sutures [11]. Additionally, incorporation of chemotherapeutic agents could further aid in reducing recurrence through not only reducing anastomotic leakage, but also by eradicating remaining cancer cells. Therefore, we will begin a comprehensive literature review covering colorectal cancer and its surgical process, chemotherapeutic agents, polymers, and conclude with related mathematical models of drug release.

Colorectal Cancer

Cancer is characterized by uncontrolled, abnormal cell division, which can metastasize by traveling through the blood and/or lymphatic system. Colorectal cancer is one of the three most common types of cancer, impacting both men and women at a rate of 10% [12]. It also is the second leading cause of death in cancer patients [13]. Colorectal cancer cells form in clumps along the colon's lining [12]. These cells reproduce in such large numbers that they produce a tumor, abnormal tissue composed of cancer cells. The cells resist apoptosis through the utilization of Interleukin-4, or IL-4 [14].

20% of patients with colorectal cancer have tumors that have metastasized already at the time of diagnosis [2]. Therefore, there will be a more significant focus on stage IIIA colorectal cancer, where cancer has spread through the colon wall's mucosa to the submucosa. Due to the absence of metastasis, which would increase the chances of recurrence and compromise other body organs, this stage of colorectal cancer is the most applicable in developing a chemotherapeutic surgical sealant as a relatively effective form of treatment [2]. Stage IIIA colon cancer varies in the number of lymph nodes that are positive for regional metastasis, with either 1 to 3 positive lymph nodes and tumor growth in the submucosa and muscle of the colon, or 4 to 6 positive lymph nodes and tumor growth in only the submucosa [15]. Approximately 1 in 3 stage III colorectal cancer patients experience recurrence [16]. The use of targeted chemotherapeutic drugs aims to prevent recurrence and metastasis.

Tumor resection is the preferred method to treat colorectal cancer tumors and is generally the first step in a combined treatment plan; the resection may be laparoscopic or open [13]. Stage IIIA colorectal cancer treatments generally include surgical intervention that may be followed by chemotherapy, making this stage ideal for treatment via solution blow spinning. Since stage IIIA colorectal cancer's recurrence rate is relatively high, a surgical sealant that concentrates chemotherapy at the resection site can be useful and potentially preferable to systemic chemotherapy following a resection. The rapid growth and durability of the CD133⁺ cells that cause colorectal cancer are largely responsible for the difficulty in treatment [17].

Surgical Process

The surgical procedure used for the treatment of stage IIIA colorectal cancer is a partial colectomy, which involves removing a portion of the colon. In a 2013 study, 38 patients were examined after a partial colectomy. Recurrence-free survival was 97%, 80%, and 67% at 1, 5, and 10 years, respectively, demonstrating the effectiveness of this procedure [18].

After the colectomy is performed, the colon segments are reconnected to each other, forming an anastomosis. Various intraoperative complications such as bleeding, bladder and bowel injury, and ureteral lesions, as well as postoperative complications such as wound infection and anastomotic leakage, are relatively common in patients receiving colectomies. The patient's anatomical characteristics and the surgeon's experience are among many factors that affect surgical outcomes [19]. In order to reduce complications, many surgeons opt to perform the resection laparoscopically, aided by a camera inserted into small incisions. Laparoscopic-assisted colectomies (LAC) often have a lower morbidity and blood loss rate than open colectomies (OC), making LACs the preferred choice of many surgeons [13]. In a study by Krarup et al. [1], a nationwide cohort examination of 9,333 patients registered in a colorectal cancer group, distant recurrence of colorectal cancer developed in 14.9% of patients and more frequently after anastomotic leakage was observed. Anastomotic leakage was significantly associated with increased rates of distant recurrence, and mortality was higher in those patients with leakage than those without.

For colorectal anastomoses, polymer-based sealants showed the most positive results for adhesion and mechanical properties [20]. This indicates that along with their potential applications in localized cancer drug delivery, surgical sealants also display significant mechanical action, which can be combined to make an effective surgical tool. Sealants applied around a colon may help prevent anastomotic leakage by adding tensile strength to the mechanical strength provided by the sutures at the surgical site and allowing healing. Additionally, an effective sealant can prevent bacteria in the intestinal contents from leaking into the peritoneal space.

Effective use of surgical sealants after colon cancer resection is noted in a 1993 study. After a partial colectomy and anastomosis were performed on a group of rats, they were divided into three groups. A circumferential ring of tissue sealant was placed around the entirety of the anastomotic sites in group A, 50% of the site in group B, and no sealant was applied in group C. The incidence of anastomotic penetration by tumor cells and subsequent tumor growth was significantly lower in group A. This shows that the fibrin sealant formed an effective barrier in preventing intraluminal tumor cells from penetrating the anastomosis and causing anastomotic leakage [21]. Through this mechanism, the physical barrier of the polymer can reduce the risk of recurrence by

limiting the spread of tumor cells, while incorporating chemotherapeutic agents can offer another route to eliminate those remaining cancer cells.

Chemotherapeutic Agents

Although many chemotherapeutic agents are used to treat colorectal cancer, some are more common, more accessible, and less expensive than others. Among the most common agents are oxaliplatin, 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), and capecitabine. The method generally used for administering these medications is an oral pill.

5-FU is one of the most commonly prescribed chemotherapeutic drugs for colorectal cancer. Its primary purpose is to prevent RNA synthesis in metastasizing colon cancer cells, to halt tumor growth [22]. Capecitabine is a prodrug of 5-FU, meaning it produces the same effects and is very chemically similar, according to a review by Walko and Lindley [23]. After ingestion, the body metabolizes capecitabine, and the product of the biochemical reaction is 5-FU [23]. Oxaliplatin forms bonds between DNA strands that should not be bound for replication, preventing cells from replicating [24]. While these chemotherapeutic agents act in different ways, they work to prevent cancer cell replication and metastasis.

Polymers

Certain properties of polyesters make them useful in biomedical settings, such as wound sealants and delivery systems for chemotherapeutics. Adhesive properties of polyesters facilitate increased local drug delivery to cancer cells, indicating a unique ability to limit apoptosis of healthy cells, unlike systemic chemotherapy. This adhesion ultimately allows the delivery of drugs to localized sites. In a 2017 study by Tavakoli et al. [25], a drug delivery system consisting of polycaprolactone (PCL) and Temozolomide showed a greater ability to induce apoptosis of U87- glioma cells than Temozolomide itself due to its ability to adhere to the glioma cells. This is a prime example of polymers being used as localized drug delivery devices, which led to an increase in cancer cell apoptosis. Tissue adherence can be adjusted using different polymers, as demonstrated in a 2018 study by Xu et al. [26]. There are many properties of polymers that can be studied and utilized in order to create sealants for specific purposes, in this case, prolonged local drug release.

The chemistry and morphology of a polymer, such as its molecular weight or tacticity, affect how it reacts to various drugs and their release. These properties and the chemical interactions between drugs and polymers in a drug-incorporated polymer system could correlate to different release patterns or delayed drug release [27]. By increasing drug entrapment, drug toxicity is minimized due to a stronger association between drug and polymer, leading to a slower release rate [27]. This indicates that differing polymer entrapment efficiencies allow for the manipulation of drug release patterns [28].

Molecular Weight

The chosen polymer's molecular weight is the most prominent trait in changing the drug's release profile. According to Ihre et al. [27], a "high" molecular weight is considered to be greater than 20,000 Da, while a "low" molecular weight is 1000 Da or less when using specific polymers. At 1000 Da, polymers are considered below the entanglement molecular weight because they can only form non-interacting single chains. They exhibit poor mechanical strength and degrade at a faster rate. At higher molecular weights, 20,000 Da and greater, the polymers overlap and interact with one another, allowing them to exhibit increased mechanical strength and elasticity [29]. When decreasing the molecular weight of the polymer, the drug releases more rapidly [30]. Inversely, increasing the polymer's molecular weight may slow down the rate of erosion front movement, which dictates drug release. Therefore, as the rate of erosion slows, the drug release slows as well, indicating the negative correlation between polymer molecular weight and drug release rate [31]. In addition to changing the release rate, an increased molecular weight also has higher efficacy in cancer treatment [27]. This results from the molecular weight and the number of ester bonds in the polymer, which are positively correlated. Increasing molecular weight slows the release rate of drugs because more ester bonds react with the drug [32].

Cross Linkages/Polymer Tacticity/Porosity

The relationship between drug release and drug entrapment is influenced by crosslinking within polymer systems. As the number of cross-linkages in an interpenetrating polymer system (IPN) increases, entrapment also increases [33]. Since entrapment is more significant in polymers with greater linkages, drug release is slower in such polymers. A negative correlation was noted between the number of cross-linkages in an IPN and the percent of drug released [33].

Furthermore, the tacticity of the polymer affects its physical properties. A polymer's tacticity refers to the stereochemistry and arrangement of the polymer [34].

Isotactic polymers, in which all asymmetric carbons in the polymer have the same configuration, may have a longer drug release pattern since they tend to be crystalline. Drug release from polylactic acid (PLA) matrices is primarily dependent on the polymer's tacticity and occurs in a highly controlled pattern [32].

The drug release rate can be altered by increasing the polymer porosity as soluble drugs are dependent on porous matrices to diffuse [35]. Increased porosity is correlated with faster drug release [35]. Additionally, with the introduction of a surfactant to the drug-polymer complex, pore depth is decreased, reducing initial burst release [34]. It is important to note that drug loading reduces surface porosity and will decrease the burst release effect as it will take longer for the exterior to degrade [36], [37].

Effects of Polymer Processing

Variations in polymer system release profiles depend on the loading process, fiber diameter size, and hydrophobicity of the polyester matrix. Blow spinning or electrospinning may be used to form fibers and create fiber mats from polymers. Therefore, the physical features of fiber mats can also be altered by using different combinations of polymers. The incorporation of other polymers changes the size, elasticity, and tensile strength, altering the drug's release pattern. Del Valle et al. [38] demonstrated that incorporating PLA micro/nanofibers led to a significant increase in the elastic modulus and tensile strength. The release pattern was an initial burst, then slow and sustained with PLA's addition [38]. PLCL may be added to reduce the tensile strength of a polymer system [39]. PCL and PLCL are very compatible for low levels of PLCL. However, as the PLCL percentage increases, PLCL tends to form its own domain

and form its own distinct morphology. The release rate can also be increased by mechanical stretching of fibers, which decreases the diameter [40].

Drug and Polymer Interactions

A polymer-drug system's relative hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity plays a critical role in determining polymer-drug interactions and release profiles. It has generally been noted that hydrophobic polymers and drugs typically portray slower release than their hydrophilic counterparts. A study conducted by Yuan et al. [41] found that the hydrophobic drug doxorubicin hydrochloride (Dox-HCl), when interacting with the hydrophobic polymer PLA, buried itself within the polymer rather than interacting with the polymer at its surface. This interaction between Dox-HCl and PLA contributed to a slow release of the drug from the core of the polymer-drug complex. Similar studies have concluded that this interaction between a hydrophobic drug and the hydrophobic region of its respective polymer results in drug entrapment, leading to the slower drug release due to tight binding interactions between the drug and polymer [42]-[44]. A common polymer used to increase hydrophilicity is PEG, which separates from PCL in its solid-state [43], [45], [46]. Vassiliou et al. [47] found that hydrophilic drugs release faster than hydrophobic drugs, which generally portray a burst release followed by a sustained, slow release. Geiger et al. [48] additionally found that hydrophobic substances can be used to partition drugs into regions of polymer with different levels of hydrophobicity and hydrophilicity, allowing for more sustained release. In another study conducted by Chou et al. [40], it was found that most sustained release systems to date have been limited to the delivery of biologics or small hydrophobic molecules. For hydrophilic small molecule drugs, the high aqueous solubility, poor partitioning, and incompatibility with insoluble polymers pose a challenge to long-term release. Some studies have found that entrapment of hydrophilic drugs in a hydrophobic core can prolong the duration of release [49]. Additionally, it has been found that the polymer hyperbranched polyether amine (HPE-A) can create hydrophobic cavities for drug entrapment [43], [45], [46].

Another focus of research has been the prevalence of electrostatic interactions, including hydrogen bonding and ionic interactions, in a drug-polymer combination. In a study conducted by Huang et al. [50], it was found that hydrophobic drugs illustrate the potential for controlled release, given that they can be stabilized within polymer systems through hydrogen bonding. Ionic interactions are another key factor in determining release patterns. Negatively charged polymers are more suitable for loading positively charged drugs, leading to increased entrapment and delayed-release [51]. Electrochemical interactions between functional groups on polymers and drugs can also change drug delivery systems' release profiles. The most common example of this type of interaction involves terminal groups on polymers. Hydrophilic drugs bond with carbonyl groups for more uniform distribution [40] and acidic functional groups can control release in many polyester systems [52]. In PLGA, there is a 0.9 correlation between the addition of terminal acidic functional groups and the percentage of drug release, with the effect being carried out by altered polymer erosion patterns [52], [53]. Another factor in release profiles is the lactic: glycolic acid ratios of the polymer. Chou et al. [40] found that Young's modulus undergoes dramatic changes based on the lactic: glycolic ratio used. Kasperczyk et al. [54] used infrared (IR) spectroscopy to characterize covalent bonds between Doxorubicin and the lactide sections of polymers, altering release timeframes.

These findings demonstrate the potential for lower toxicity and targeted release, with the drug bonding to the polymer's side chains.

Many modifications can be made to polymers to change their interactions with the drug through physical and chemical mechanisms. One such modification is the addition of a polymer coating to increase stability and prolong release. Adding a polymeric coating adds another physical barrier between the polymer system and its surrounding environment to slow the drug's diffusion rate. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) spectra show no chemical interaction between the coating and the drug [55]. This mechanism can also be used to produce pulsatile release depending on the polymer and coating combinations. In most cases, the initial burst of drug release is decreased, as demonstrated by Manna [56] using a PLGA/PGA coating. Hydrolysis of the coating provided a steady, prolonged release. Both Su et al. [57] and Mylonaki et al. [58] have shown that incorporating drugs into either the shell of a core-shell system or the coating itself can decrease the initial release time of the drug while still allowing for extended release. Similar to adding a polymer coating, layering polymers is another method for altering release patterns. This method stems from alternating layers of polymer with drug and layers without drug, according to Kim et al. [59].

Layering polymers can also result in more even drug distribution and more predictable release patterns [40]. Branching of polyesters results in a faster breakdown, and this property can be utilized to expedite drug release. There are two specific types of branching patterns that have been studied for their effects on release rate: comb-branching and star-shaped branching patterns. A polymer exhibits a comb-branching pattern when the polymer's central backbone includes several side

16

chains or arms [60]. On the other hand, star-shaped branching patterns include several linear polymer chains, each connected at a common point [61]. Polymers with comb-branching patterns exhibit faster degradation rates and a porous structure that allows for drug delivery in 2 to 3 weeks. Star-shaped branching patterns exhibit longer retention due to interactions between PLA and PEG blocks, leading to accelerated degradation after about three weeks [62]. The hydrophobicity of the backbone or branches adds another component that alters release. Zhang et al. [46] found that an inner hydrophobic element to a branched polymer system allows for better entrapment of hydrophobic drugs with greater stiffness and lowered porosity. This system initially underwent quick degradation, followed by an extended drug release. Additionally, using a hierarchical structure of microfibers and nanofibers allows for greater drug retention by reducing porosity [63]. Other alterations are still being studied, such as an increase in the number of ester bonds in a polymer that increases the length of drug release [32].

Drug loading efficiency is higher for hydrophobic polymer and hydrophobic drug systems due to favorable hydrogen and electrochemical interactions between the drug and polymer [42]–[44]. In a hydrophilic environment, hydrophobic drugs will more likely be found in the hydrophobic region of a polymer, increasing entropically favorable interactions and drug entrapment [47]. Some polymers, including hyperbranched polyether amine (HPE-A), have been able to create hydrophobic cavities as a result of their chemical structure, such that the release of hydrophobic drugs is delayed due to increased entrapment [43], [45], [46].

Solution Blow Spinning

To administer the surgical sealant over the colon, a technique called solution blow spinning (SBS) is utilized. In SBS, a polymer is dissolved in a solvent and sprayed through an airbrush [11]. Once deposited, the solvent quickly evaporates before contacting the tissue, and the polymer forms adhesive fibers [11]. Compared to the more common method of electrospinning, SBS is advantageous due to its lower cost [11]. Unlike electrospinning, blow spinning does not require an electric current and instead utilizes an airbrush and pressurized gas to propel the fibers, making use of accessible and portable equipment [11]. Blow spinning typically uses acetone as a solvent, while electrospinning often uses more toxic solvents, such as chloroform, making blow spinning suitable for applications within the body [11]. Kern et al. [64] found success when using solution blow spinning to repair bowel anastomosis, demonstrating this method's clinical applicability.

Mathematical Models of Drug Release

Drug release can be modeled using two major methods: bulk erosion and surface erosion. Bulk erosion occurs when there is a lag period without significant polymer mass loss followed by the rapid mass loss [65]. This overall pattern of degradation has been described as sigmoidal [66], and many have found the period of mass loss to be first-order [67]. First-order release kinetics are dependent on the concentration of the drug. In other words, the rate of release is proportional to the drug concentration. It is represented by the equation:

$$ln\left(1-F\right) = -K_{1}t$$

where "F" is the fraction of drug released, "t" is time, and " K_1 " is the first order release constant [68]. Another common form of the equation represents the release as a log cumulative percent of drug retained versus time. This is represented by the equation:

$$\log Q_t = \log Q_o - K_1 t/2.303$$

where " Q_t " is the amount of drug dissolved at time "t," " Q_o " is the initial amount of drug in the solution, and " K_1 " is the first order release constant [69].

When a drug is incorporated into the polymer, bulk erosion has the potential to provide a pulsatile release [65], in which there is a rapid release of drug from the polymer following a period of dormancy. Pulsatile systems can be divided into two categories: time-controlled systems and stimuli-induced systems. A thermoresponsive (stimuli-induced) pulsatile release was described mathematically for the first time by Yang et al. [70]. The fraction of drug release from a thermoresponsive polymer by time t is represented by the equation:

$$\frac{M(t)}{M(\infty)} = \begin{cases} 1 - \sum_{\substack{n=1 \\ \infty}}^{\infty} \frac{2}{\lambda_n} \exp\left(-\lambda_n \frac{D_c t}{H_c^2}\right), & 0 \le t < t_1, \\ 1 - \sum_{\substack{n=1 \\ \infty}}^{\infty} \frac{2}{\lambda_n} \exp\left(-\lambda_n \left(\frac{D_c t_1}{H_c^2} + \frac{D_s(t-t_1)}{H_s^2}\right)\right), & t_1 \le t < t_2, \\ 1 - \sum_{\substack{n=1 \\ \infty}}^{\infty} \frac{2}{\lambda_n} \exp\left(-\lambda_n \left(\frac{D_c t_1}{H_c^2} + \frac{D_s(t_2-t_1)}{H_s^2} + \frac{D_c(t-t_2)}{H_c^2}\right)\right), \\ t_2 \le t < t_3, \\ \vdots \end{cases}$$

Where Where "M(t)" and " $M(\infty)$ " are the amount of drug released at time "t" and time " ∞ " respectively, "t" is time, "D_c" is the constant diffusivity of the condensed

polymer film, " D_s" is the constant diffusivity of the swollen film, "H_c" is the constant thickness of the condensed film, "H_s" is the constant thickness of the swollen film, and $"\lambda_n" = ((2n - 1)^{2\pi^2})/4$ [70]. Treatments that aim to replenish or support existing processes in the body may benefit from a release that parallels natural mechanisms. Additionally, pulsatile release allows repeated release over a few weeks [71]. This could reduce the amount of times treatment must be administered, allowing multiple doses to be released internally.

Surface erosion occurs when the exterior of the polymer degrades first, causing a delay in the mass loss [66]. This prevents the interior of the polymer from breaking down until the surrounding layers have been degraded. Surface erosion allows for delayed drug release, as the incorporation of drugs prevents rapid hydrolysis of lactone functional groups present in polyesters, as seen in bulk erosion [28], [66]. It has been found that a high surface area to volume ratio increases surface erosion and thus drug release rate [63]. This observation is supported by the Hixson-Crowell mathematical model that recognizes that the dissolution rate depends on the surface area contacting the applied solvent with an increase in the surface area resulting in faster dissolution of the system. It is represented by the equation:

$$W_0^{1/3} - W_t^{1/3} = K_{HO}$$

where " W_0 " is the initial amount of drug, " W_t " is the remaining amount of drug at time "t," and " K_{HC} " is the Hixson-Crowell constant describing the proportion between the surface area to volume at time "t" [72]. Furthermore, the Hopfenberg model can be applied to surface eroding polymers where a zero-order surface detachment of the drug is the rate-limiting release step, the slowest part of the drug release. It acts as a kinetic bottleneck, preventing the overall drug release from proceeding any faster than that slowest step. Moreover, a zero-order release kinetic is one where the rate of release is constant over a period of time [73]. The Hopfenberg model is represented by the equation:

$$M_t / M_{\infty} = 1 - [1 - k_0 t / C_L a]^n$$

Where "K"₀ is the zero-order rate constant describing the surface erosion process, "C_L" is the initial drug loading through the system, "a" is the system's radius, and "n" is the system's geometry. The equation [73] is valid for slabs, cylinders, and spheres with:

n=1 for flat slab n=2 for cylinder n=3 for sphere

More comprehensively, the Weibull mathematical model is commonly used in drug dissolution studies and can be applied to all types of dissolution systems. It is given by the equation:

$$m = 1 - exp[-(t - T_i)^{b}/a]$$

Where "m" is the accumulated fraction of drug release in solution at time "t," "a" is the time scale process, " T_i " is the lag time (generally zero), and b is the shape parameter with

b=1 indicating an exponential curve

b=2 indicating a sigmoid curve

b=3 indicating a parabolic curve.

The Weibull mathematical model is most applicable when determining dissolution curves, especially when determining if a surface eroding polymer's dissolution curve is linear. Drug release following this model will have a linear trend when a log(m) vs. log(t) plot is constructed [74].

There are many advantages to a delayed-release system. By releasing lower drug concentration over a long period, this treatment could reduce the accumulation of cytotoxic drugs at healthy normal sites and focuses circulation of the drug at the tumor site [50]. Additionally, the sustained release could provide a prolonged treatment over a much more extended period of time than the pulsatile-like release characteristic of bulk erosion [75].

Conclusion

Colorectal cancer is one of the most common cancer types and is the second leading cause of death in cancer patients [12], [13]. Many gaps exist in prior research regarding the SBS technique, especially in its applications to colorectal cancer. Evaluating the efficacy of a local drug delivery method, determining the optimal polymer type for use in SBS, and testing this technique on diseased tissue remain areas for further experimentation. The purpose of a polymer sealant is to reduce anastomotic leakage, a common complication of tumor resection that increases risk of recurrence [1], while incorporating chemotherapeutic agents is likely to reduce risk of recurrence as well. The following chapters focus on creating a tissue-adhesive chemotherapeutic device, aiming to control drug release within a polymer-drug system and provide local treatment at the site of tumor resection.

Chapter 3: Materials and Methodology

Polymers for Use in Surgical Sealants

One biodegradable polymer that can be used to facilitate drug release is poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA). This polymer can be dissolved in acetone and applied by blow spinning with an airbrush to create adhesive fibers for use in the body [11], [76]. PLGA does not actively aid the tissue healing process. Instead, it adds tensile strength to the anastomosis to facilitate natural healing [11], [76]. However, PLGA degrades in only 30 days *in vitro*, which would not suffice for a long-term chemotherapy treatment [76]. This means that PLGA-based drug delivery is not optimal for treating colorectal cancer because it will release drugs too quickly and not allow for a suitably long treatment window.



poly-(lactic-co-glycolic acid)

Figure 1: Structure of lactic acid, glycolic acid, and PLGA.

A polymer that is more suited for extended-release chemotherapy treatment is PCL or PLCL. These polymers have a much longer degradation time than PLGA, degrading over the course of multiple months and lasting for up to two years [77], [78]. This would allow for a long-term release of chemotherapy drugs to the anastomotic site. However, PCL solutions were comparatively more difficult to use with the airbrush than PLCL and PLGA. The PCL solutions were more viscous and repeatedly blocked the nozzle of the airbrush. Therefore, our methodologies were conducted with only PLCL and PLGA polymer and drug solutions.

Aim I Methodology

The main goal of Aim 1 of our experiments was to determine how the incorporation of chemotherapeutic drugs into polymers affected the properties of the polymer. Three chemotherapeutic drugs were used for this experiment: 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), oxaliplatin, and capecitabine. These drugs are all common for treating colorectal cancer and have IC_{50} concentrations of 24.2 μ M, 24.2 μ M, and 0.97 μ M, respectively. [79], [80]. The IC_{50} concentration is the concentration of drug required to kill 50% of colon cancer cells *in vitro*. Each drug was dissolved at twice its IC_{50} concentration (48.4 μ M, 48.4 μ M, and 1.94 μ M, respectively). Double the concentration was used because it was expected that the evaporating acetone would lead to a decreased amount of drug in the resulting polymer sealant. The high volatility of acetone mitigates its potentially harmful side effects in the body. Acetone will evaporate before it reaches the target area, thereby making it the most viable candidate for the blow spinning procedure instead of more harmful solvents such as chloroform or methanol. After the solutions of each drug

in acetone were made, 20% w/v solutions of PLGA and PLCL were made by dissolving approximately 1 g of polymer in 5 mL of each drug/acetone solution. For each polymer, molecular weights of both 40 kDa and 80 kDa were used. Additionally, four control solutions were made with 1 g of each polymer at each molecular weight dissolved in 5 mL acetone without a drug to make 20% w/v solutions. Each of the experimental solutions used for this methodology is outlined in Table 1.

After the solutions were made, 1 mL of each solution was sprayed via SBS onto a glass slide positioned about 20 cm away from the airbrush. Each PLCL fiber mat was examined immediately under an optical microscope to view the fiber mats before they transitioned into a film. Qualitative observations were made about the consistency and general appearance of the fiber mats and morphology and fiber diameter. The polymer fibers loaded with drug were compared to their corresponding controls (with the same polymer at the same molecular weight) to determine what effects, if any, the incorporation of chemotherapy drugs had on the polymer fiber structure.

PLCL	40 kDa	Oxaliplatin
		Capecitabine
		5-fluorouracil (5-FU)
	80 kDa	Oxaliplatin
		Capecitabine
		5-fluorouracil (5-FU)
PLGA 40 kDa 80 kDa	40 kDa	Oxaliplatin
		Capecitabine
		5-fluorouracil (5-FU)
	80 kDa	Oxaliplatin
		Capecitabine
		5-fluorouracil (5-FU)

Table 1. Different polymer and drug combinations used in the methodology.

Aim II Methodology

The main goal of Aim II was to determine which drug and polymer combination was ideal for release at a surgical site. Desirable characteristics include delayed-release, to permit post-operative site healing, and drug release concentration that would be effective for treating Stage IIIA colorectal cancer.

One of the critical features of the ideal drug for incorporation into a surgical sealant was its release profile. During chemotherapy treatment, drugs are administered over multiple treatment sessions to achieve a consistent circulation of drugs in the body without being lethal to the patient. Therefore, the release patterns of capecitabine, 5-FU, and oxaliplatin from 40 and 80 kDa PLCL were studied to compare with the typical treatment timeline of Stage IIIA colorectal cancer. The drug release was measured by using UV-Vis spectrophotometry. The changes in the absorbance of the solution surrounding the drug and polymer showed the drug concentration released in a certain period. In order to initiate this study, the lambda max (λ_{max}) values (the wavelength at which the light absorbance of the drug is maximized) for capecitabine, 5-FU, and oxaliplatin were determined by running a full range UV-Vis scan from 250–700 nm and observing which wavelength showed the highest absorbance. Standard curves were created by measuring the absorbance at various concentrations in a serial dilution starting from the IC₅₀ value.

The λ_{max} and standard curve information were used to obtain a release profile of each drug. Drug solutions with a concentration of twice the IC₅₀ values were mixed with 20% solutions of 40 and 80 kDa PLCL in phosphate buffer saline (PBS). Twice the IC₅₀ value was used to account for any drug lost in the solution blow spinning process.

Blow-spun fiber mats were placed in a Petri dish with 10 mL each of PBS of pH 7.4 and stored at 37° C to mimic internal body conditions. Three Petri dishes for each drug and molecular weight were made, and three measurements were taken for each dish. The Petri dishes were sealed with electrical tape and Parafilm to prevent leakage and evaporation of PBS. Measurements were taken every day for the first week to determine whether the drug was immediately released and then once a week by removing 3000 μ L of the PBS solution from each Petri dish, placing it in a cuvette, and measuring the absorbance at the lambda max of the drug it contained. Oxaliplatin in PBS was treated with Iron (III) Chloride in the presence of Phenanthroline (retrieved from Sigma-Aldrich) to shift the lambda max and appear visible with spectrophotometry [81]. Capecitabine showed a delayed stepwise and delayed-release profile which was of interest compared to standard treatment, so it was used for all experiments moving forward. To ensure the accuracy of the capecitabine release pattern, the same procedure was repeated.

The same procedure was repeated with 40 and 80 kDa PLGA. PLGA is more hydrophilic than PLCL, and comparison to PLCL would help explain chemical interactions between the drug and polymer. Measurements were taken until a 20% release was reached to confirm whether the expected release pattern would occur and compare the delay in drug release. For PLGA, the release would be expected to start earlier than capecitabine and then continue steadily until 20% was reached rather than taking several weeks to start and then releasing in a stepwise fashion as PLCL did.

Aim III Methodology

This experiment's main goal was to compare a PLCL polymer's mechanical properties with and without chemotherapeutic drugs at different molecular weights. The first mechanical property to be tested was the degradation of the polymer. Four 1000 µL samples of 20% polymer solution (40 kDa PLCL control, 80 kDa PLCL control, 40 kDa PLCL + 48.4 µM capecitabine, and 80 kDa PLCL + 48.4 µM capecitabine) were solution blow-spun onto a pre-massed glass slide and placed into pre-massed Petri dishes. Twice the IC_{50} concentration of drug was used because it was expected that some drug would evaporate along with the acetone during the spraying process. The combined mass of the pre-massed slide and pre-massed Petri dish were recorded. The slides were submerged in 10 mL of PBS and kept in an oven at 37°C. After one week, the samples were removed from the PBS, blotted dry with a Kimwipe, and placed in a vacuum desiccator for 48 hours. After 48 hours, the samples were massed in the Petri dishes, and the combined mass of the pre-massed Petri dish and the slide was subtracted to determine the mass of the polymer. 10 mL of PBS was then placed back into the Petri dish, and the sample was put back into the oven. In order to observe any differences in the mass of the polymer solution over time, this process was repeated over a span of approximately 112 days with n=3 samples per polymer solution. This time was selected to generally follow the time span of the drug release from Aim 2.

The next mechanical property to be tested was the adhesion of the polymer. The adhesive capabilities of the PLCL fibers with and without capecitabine at different molecular weights were tested via pull-off testing through a Dynamic Mechanical Analysis (DMA) machine. Four 500 μ L samples of 20% polymer solution (40 kDa

PLCL control, 80 kDa PLCL control, 40 kDa PLCL + 48.4 μ M capecitabine, and 80 kDa PLCL + 48.4 μ M capecitabine) were solution blow-spun onto 8 by 8 mm clamps. Twice the IC₅₀ concentration of drug was used because it was expected that some drug would evaporate along with the acetone during the spraying process. Porcine intestinal tissue was trimmed to size and super-glued to an 8 mm by 10 mm clamp. The two clamps were compressed together at a force of 1 N for 5 minutes at 37°C, allowing the fiber mats to transition as they would *in vivo* and overall to mimic physiological body temperature [82]. The DMA then performed a "pull off," pulling the two clamps apart at a force that increased by 1 N per minute at a fixed temperature of 37°C until the fiber mat failed to adhere to the tissue. The maximum force was then recorded and divided by the area of the 8 by 8 mm clamp to determine the maximum amount of stress the polymer could take before failing to adhere to the tissue. This procedure was repeated for five trials per polymer solution.
Chapter 4: Results

Morphological Analysis of Blow-Spun Fibers



Figure 2. Micrographs of each polymer-drug condition. A) 40 kDa PLCL without drug, B) 40 kDa PLCL with capecitabine, C) 80 kDa PLCL without drug, D) 80 kDa PLCL with capecitabine. The fiber mats' observable qualities do not significantly change between the control groups and the solutions with capecitabine. Both 80 kDa PLCL samples were denser than the 40 kDa PLCL samples.

5-Fluorouracil, capecitabine, and oxaliplatin were all able to dissolve at double their IC_{50} concentrations in 20% solutions of both molecular weights of PLCL and PLGA in acetone. Since all of the drugs were soluble in the polymer solutions, surfactants were not used. The glass slide functioned as the surface to which the polymer could adhere and form a fiber mat. Upon analysis of the fiber mats under a microscope, there was no significant difference in the observable morphology of PLCL fibers in the control trials compared to the trials in which chemotherapeutic agents were present. Additionally, there were no significant differences in the fiber density between the control and drug-loaded fibers or in the adhesion of fiber mats to the glass slide. 80 kDa PLCL fibers were shown to be denser than 40 kDa PLCL fibers for both the control and experimental groups. Typical diameters of blow spun fibers according to literature range from 0.25µm and 2.5µm; though the PLCL fibers shown here were not measured, they are expected to be similar [76], [83]. PLGA images were unable to be obtained due to time constraints imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, PLGA fibers were successfully spun using solution blow spinning and there were no observable differences in the fibers spun with the chemotherapeutic agent and the control.



Figure 3. Comparison of average fiber width between 40kDa and 80kDa samples with and without drug incorporated. The mean fiber width and standard error of n=10 are graphed above. The black bars represent the control samples without drug and the gray bars represent drug-incorporated samples. Measurements were taken using ImageJ analysis software.

T-test for 2 independent means was used to determine if fiber width was affected by the incorporation of drug. Measurements of the fiber width in PLCL were analyzed with ImageJ software. Both 40 and 80 kDa PLCL samples show no significant difference in average fiber width between samples with and without drug incorporated (p>0.05, n=10 for each sample).

Drug Release Trials

Drug release of three different drugs with varying molecular weights of PLCL show different release profiles. 5-FU shows a periodic release of drug, followed by a burst release that reaches 100% release of the loaded drug within 80 days for 40 kDa and 60 days for 80 kDa (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Drug release of 5-FU dissolved in A. 40 kDa and B. 80 kDa PLCL. The means and standard errors of samples of n=3 are graphed as a percent of original concentration released as a function of time.

Capecitabine shows different release profiles between the 40 kDa and 80 kDa PLCL samples (Figure 5). Both samples were not 100% released at the conclusion of the study at 96 days. 40 kDa PLCL shows a large burst release at about 40 days. 80 kDa PLCL shows a periodic step release throughout the duration of the study. Both molecular weights show some degree of delay before the drug's initial release, with a longer delay in 80 kDa PLCL trials.



Figure 5. Drug release of capecitabine dissolved in A. 40 kDa and B. 80 kDa PLCL. The means and standard errors of samples of n=3 are graphed as a function of a percent of original concentration released as a function of time.

Oxaliplatin exhibited continuous release of drug throughout the duration of the study (Figure 6). 40 kDa reaches 100% release between 50–60 days, whereas 80 kDa reaches 100% release around 70–80 days.



Figure 6. Drug release of oxaliplatin dissolved in A. 40 kDa and B. 80 kDa PLCL. The means and standard errors of n=3 are graphed as a function of a percent of original concentration released as a function of time.

For 5-FU and capecitabine, there was a delay in the release of the drug, with 80 kDa capecitabine exhibiting the most prolonged delay before releasing. Oxaliplatin began

releasing almost immediately, according to the data. This was true of both 40 kDa and 80 kDa. In both capecitabine and oxaliplatin, the 80 kDa molecular weight had a slower release rate than the 40 kDa molecular weight.



Figure 7. Average amount of days until 25% release of initial concentration of drug from *PLCL*. The mean number of days and standard error of n=3 are graphed above. Black bars represent 40 kDa samples and grey bars represent 80 kDa samples.

Comparison of the delay in release was performed and results are shown in Figure 7. Average amount of days until 25% of release was calculated among the 3 trials for each drug combination with PLCL. 25% release would indicate that half of the IC_{50} value, or 12.1µM, was released, since the initial concentration incorporated was twice the IC_{50} value. Previous studies have indicated 50% of the IC_{50} value as significant release in drug release experiments [84]. Across all molecular weights, capecitabine took the longest to reach a 25% release, on average 45.4 days for 40 kDa samples and 69.1 days

for 80kDa. Oxaliplatin was released almost immediately, reaching 25% release at an average of 6.7 days for 40 kDa samples and 8.1 days for 80 kDa. The release time of 5-FU is intermediate between oxaliplatin and capecitabine, releasing 25% of drug in an average of 44.7 days for 40 kDa and 27.4 for 80 kDa.

Due to its longer delay in release compared to the other drugs, Capecitabine in conjunction with PLCL was retested with specific focus on release until half the IC-50 value. The average number of days to reach 25% release in this second trial were compared to the initial capecitabine trial. 40 kDa and 80 kDa means across both samples were compared using a t-test for 2 independent means. There was no significant difference between the means of both the 40 kDa and 80 kDa samples from these two studies (p>0.05, n=3 for each sample).



Figure 8. Drug release of capecitabine dissolved in *A*. 40 kDa PLGA and *B*. 80 kDa PLGA. The means and standard errors of the mass loss of n=3 are graphed as a percent of mass remaining over time.

To further investigate the delayed-release and the role of capecitabine in this process, the drug release pattern of capecitabine was investigated in a different polymer:

PLGA (Figure 8). Both 40 kDa and 80 kDa PLGA displayed a release within three days, with two days of maintained mass loss followed by complete release to 100%.

Mass Degradation Study

The 40 kDa PLCL with drug had a significant degradation during the first week, then had a negligible increase in mass, and then continued to degrade (Figure 9). The 40 kDa PLCL without the drug (control) had an even more significant degradation during the first week and then had a negligible increase in mass, but appears to have degraded more significantly than the 40 kDa PLCL with the drug after this point. The 80 kDa PLCL with capecitabine had significant degradation over the first three weeks but then appeared to slightly increase in mass. The 80 kDa PLCL control displayed an almost exact trend compared to the 80 kDa with drug (Figure 10).



Figure 9. Degradation of 40 kDa PLCL at *A*. control and *B*. with capecitabine. The means and standard errors of the mass loss of n=3 are graphed as a function of percent of mass remaining over time.



Figure 10. Degradation of 80 kDa PLCL at **A.** control and **B.** with capecitabine. The means and standard errors of the mass loss of n=3 samples are graphed as a function of percent of mass remaining as a function of time.

DMA Pull-Off Testing

Preliminary results were obtained comparing the stress, in kPa, required for adhesion failure between drug-loaded and control fiber mats of 40 kDa PLCL and porcine intestine. Five trials were performed for the control and experimental groups. The average stress to induce adhesion failure between the control polymer and the intestine was 11.82 kPa, with a standard error of 2.40 kPa. For the capecitabine-loaded polymer, the average stress to induce adhesion failure was 12.0825 kPa, with a standard error of 1.22 kPa. These results are shown below in Figure 11.



Figure 11. The average maximum stress (kPa) to induce adhesion failure in control and capecitabine-loaded 40 kDa PLCL. Means and standard error of n=5 samples are graphed above.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Polymers incorporated with chemotherapeutic drugs have the potential to provide localized treatment. This application can be used in a multitude of medical settings, including, but not limited to, cancer treatment. It has the ability to be administered in conjunction with sutures, the traditional method of sealing an anastomosis after tumor resection. Typical treatment for stage IIIA colorectal cancer involves a combination of both surgery and systemic chemotherapy [1], making this stage suitable for treatment via solution blow spinning. Due to the high recurrence rate and the utilization of surgical resection in the treatment of colorectal cancer, the potential provided by polymer fibers to create a localized, extended drug-delivery system while also functioning as a surgical sealant is of interest [16], [18]. While sutures aid the colon in healing after anastomosis, it can often lead to leakage at the resection site exposing healthy tissue to remains of cancerous tissue and GI contents [1]. The use of a sealant can also help mitigate the adverse effects that may result from only using sutures [20]. The experiments conducted were done with the goal of assessing the structural, mechanical, and chemical properties of various combinations of polymer and chemotherapeutic agents. In addition to releasing at the site of resection, the incorporation of drugs should not hinder the structural or mechanical integrity of the polymer fibers. PLCL exhibits longer degradation time (ranging from a few months to two years) in comparison to previously studied polymers such as PLGA, which makes it a potential candidate for use in long-term treatments [77], [78].

PLCL and PLGA with incorporated drug are compatible with SBS

The solubilities of PLCL and PLGA in acetone were not impacted by the addition of chemotherapeutic drugs, and all polymer solutions at each molecular weight were able to form fibers via solution blow spinning. The morphology of these fibers indicate that there are no manipulations necessary, such as the use of surfactants, to ensure the inclusion of the drug into the fiber mat. The morphology also indicates that the structural properties of the polymer are similar between the fiber mats that contain or lack chemotherapeutic drugs. The results from these studies enabled the continuation of investigating the behavior of drug release *in vitro* and the mechanical properties of the fibers. These properties could be assessed and compared between the two molecular weights, as well as between fibers that contain or lack chemotherapeutic drugs.

Various polymer-drug combinations display different release patterns

The drug release study results suggest there is a difference between the release profiles of 40 kDa and 80 kDa PLCL fiber mats. At higher molecular weights, starting at 20 kDa, the polymers overlap and interact with one another, allowing the fiber mat to exhibit increased properties of mechanical strength and elasticity [29]. Increasing the molecular weight may slow down the rate of erosion front movement, which dictates drug release. Therefore, as the rate of erosion slows, drug release slows as well, again showing the negative correlation between polymer molecular weight and drug release [31]. In addition to changing the rate of release, an increased molecular weight also has higher efficacy in cancer treatment, because of the permeability of cancer cells which allows for larger molecules to be delivered to nearby tissue sites and increases drug circulation time in the plasma [27]. The 40 kDa fiber mats release chemotherapeutic drugs rapidly in a shorter period of time. In contrast, the 80 kDa fiber mats tend to release chemotherapeutic drugs in smaller quantities over extended intervals of time, with periods of no release in between. This observation holds true for all the combinations tested in our experiments with the exception of 5-FU and PLCL. The result we saw displays 80 kDa releasing near 100% of the incorporated drug before 40 kDa. Although we cannot confirm whether this is accurate, previous literature points to experimental error that may have produced this result.

5-FU and capecitabine exhibited a delayed release at both molecular weights. It was concluded that this delayed release may be ideal because it allows time for the anastomosis to partially heal prior to initial drug release. Patients, on average, wait about 2–6 weeks after surgery before the introduction of systemic chemotherapy [85]. This time span allows patient recovery and anastomotic healing, making the delayed release preferable and in conjunction with normal treatment periods. Through the release study, it was determined that capecitabine was the more favorable chemotherapeutic agent when compared to 5-FU and oxaliplatin. Not only does it show a delayed release within the parameters of 2–6 weeks, but it also exhibited a burst release at 40 kDa and a periodic release at 80 kDa which allows for further comparison of these two profiles using PLCL. Burst release may not be preferable, as it can lead to uneven, and potentially harmful, dosing of the chemotherapeutic agent. A stepwise release appears to be a better pattern to follow post-tumor resection, considering that it results in more tolerable dosing and more than one administration of treatment [86]. In general, PLCL's degradation pattern more resembles surface erosion, in which a layer of the polymer degrades fully before the next

layer begins [66]. This typically leads to a sustained release over time. Previous studies have corroborated the PLCL is a surface eroding polymer [84], attributed to the chirality and electrophilicity of the polymer's functional groups.



Timeline for Treatment with Drug-Loaded Polymer Surgical Sealant

Typical Treatment Timeline 84,86

Figure 12. *A comparison of the proposed treatment timeline using PLCL and capecitabine following surgery and the typical treatment timeline.*

Figure 12 demonstrates the potential compatibility of a PLCL-capecitabine system with the traditional colorectal cancer treatment timeline. The lag period exhibited by PLCL in which no drug is released from the polymer coincides with the necessary recovery period patients undergo to allow healing of the surgical site. The release of drugs from PLCL begins around the same time a patient would typically begin chemotherapy following the surgery. Patients typically undergo adjuvant chemotherapy for about six months following surgery [87]. With the use of a polymer surgical sealant such as PLCL, the drug will continuously be released from the sealant during this period, eliminating the need for a patient to continuously undergo an extensive chemotherapy regimen.

The relative hydrophobicity or hydrophilicity of both polymer and drug plays a critical role in determining interactions and the resulting model of release. It has been found that hydrophobic polymers and drugs typically portray slower release than their hydrophilic counterparts [47]. In a study conducted by Chou et al. [88] it was found that most sustained release systems to date have been limited to the delivery of biologics or small hydrophobic molecules. For hydrophilic small molecule drugs, on the other hand, the high aqueous solubility, poor partitioning, and incompatibility with hydrophobic polymers pose a challenge to long-term release. PLCL is a hydrophobic polymer, which combines PCL with PLA to optimize biocompatibility and mechanical properties [89]. Capecitabine is mostly hydrophobic due to its spontaneous dissolution in ethanol and long carbon chain [90]. The delayed release that can be seen in PLCL-capecitabine systems can be due to multiple hydrophobic interactions that have been tested experimentally in the past. A study conducted by Yuan et al. [41] found that the hydrophobic drug Dox-HCl, when interacting with the hydrophobic polymer PLA, buried itself within the polymer, rather than interacting with the polymer at its surface, leading to a slow release of the drug from the hydrophobic core of the polymer-drug complex. Similar studies have concluded that this interaction between a hydrophobic drug and the hydrophobic region of its respective polymer results in drug entrapment, leading to the subsequent slower release of the drug due to tight binding interactions between the drug and the polymer [42]–[44]. 5-FU and oxaliplatin are both relatively hydrophilic drugs, resulting in less drug entrapment. Thus, these drugs will be released earlier in surface erosion of PLCL, accounting for the faster release we observed in our experiments. Increased drug entrapment in conjunction with surface erosion further slows the rate of release. Our results are consistent with most findings from hydrophobic polymer-drug interactions. In addition, the method of solution blow spinning produces fiber mats that are layered on top of one another during spraying. It can be hypothesized that these layers follow surface erosion in that the outermost layer degrades fully first, leading to occasional and tolerable drug release over time. However, more in depth studies of fiber arrangement would have to be conducted to confirm whether the method of blowing fibers contributes to drug release.

In order to better understand the interplay of hydrophobicity of both drug and polymer, different polymers were studied with the same methodology and the incorporation of capecitabine. Our studies focused on the delayed period before initial release that was especially unique to capecitabine.

To further understand how capecitabine was contributing to this delayed period, we tested capecitabine with PLGA, which is expected to exhibit faster release due to the faster rate of degradation. PLGA is a hydrophilic copolymer of PLA and poly glycolic acid (PGA) [91]. PGA is a highly hydrophilic and crystalline polymer that exhibits a rapid rate of degradation [92]. Typically, PLGA with higher ratios of lactic acid are less hydrophilic and thus absorb less water and degrade more slowly. However, an exception to this is the 50:50 ratio of lactic and glycolic acid PLGA, which exhibits the fastest degradation due to their higher content of hydrophilic glycolic units [92], [93]. Given that capecitabine is a hydrophobic drug, and PLGA is a hydrophilic polymer, we expected decreased drug entrapment of capecitabine in PLGA. This was supported by our findings, as capecitabine was released from PLGA much faster than PLCL. The experiments with capecitabine in combination with PLGA demonstrated that PLGA did not have a lag

period, and all of the drug was released from the polymer over the span of two to three days. PLGA is a hydrophilic, amorphous polymer that exhibits bulk erosion [94]. Bulk erosion is a homogeneous process, leading to uniform degradation throughout the polymer matrix [95] The model developed by Lao et al. [96] characterizes degradation of PLGA in a three step process. First, solvent penetration into the polymer matrix results in the initial release of surface drugs. When combined with hydrophobic drugs, PLGA exhibits a latent period with very little drug release in stage one. In stage two, degradation by hydrolysis results in further "relaxation of the network", resulting in further release. As degradation occurs, the level of entanglement decreases, resulting in shorter chains creating a more "open" network that allows for continued release. In the final stage, the drug is released through a diffusional process through an interconnected network of channels in the polymer. PLGA is also porous which increases the channels through which chemotherapeutic drugs can be released from the polymer matrix.

Our findings were consistent with the patterns described in the literature, suggesting that the release kinetics observed in the PLGA-capecitabine system may be a result of bulk degradation and reduced drug entrapment. PLGA exhibited no lag period, followed by the rapid release of the drug, typical of polymers exhibiting bulk erosion [97]. The drug release period for PLGA was significantly shorter than that of PLCL, with all of the drug release occurring within three days. This makes the PLGA-capecitabine combination incompatible for use in treatment of colorectal cancer following a tumor resection, as this would require sustained release following a delay period. However, the rapid release and degradation of PLGA presents potential applications for other forms of localized treatments requiring immediate and short-term sustained release.

The PLCL-capecitabine combination arises as the most promising candidate for further development as a localized form of chemotherapy treatment. The hydrophobic interactions of drug and polymer, as well as the erosion pattern characteristic of PLCL, optimize a delayed release that may allow for adequate healing at the surgical site prior to targeted cell death. The mechanistic action of capecitabine may also show promise in a localized treatment. Capecitabine is enzymatically converted into 5-FU by proteins that are high in concentration in cancerous cells [23]. Thus, the targeted application of this drug may provide benefit in attacking cancerous cells while preserving the health of normal tissue. Additionally, since this pro-drug is hydrophobic in comparison to 5-FU, interactions with PLCL allow for an extended release due to drug entrapment. In addition to being hydrophobic, PLCL's surface eroding properties demonstrate a slower rate of release, where the initial layers of degradation have less drug. The larger bursts of drug release then occur after delay, and the nature of surface erosion allows portions of the total concentration to be released periodically over time. This is complementary to the typical treatment of chemotherapy which consists of many rounds of treatment with breaks for recovery in between. This treatment can last for months as seen in Figure 12. An extended and periodic release of anti-cancer drug from a surgical sealant would serve to mimic this timeline, potentially without the systemic side effects present in traditional chemotherapy.

Degradation and adhesion of polymers are not impacted by incorporation of drug

The polymer degradation study has shown that PLCL degraded slowly over an extended period of time *in vitro*. If this method were applied to chemotherapy treatment,

the goal would be for the polymer to completely degrade as the chemotherapeutic drug is being delivered over an extended period of time. While there were similarities between the degradation patterns between control and experimental groups at each molecular weight (which indicates that the degradation of the polymer is not impacted by the introduction of drug to the polymer solution), there were differences in the degradation patterns between different molecular weight polymers. The 40 kDa PLCL control and capecitabine samples lost a more significant amount of mass (between 90–95% mass remaining within the first five days) than the 80 kDa PLCL control and capecitabine groups (which had 96-100% mass remaining) within the same time period. This is consistent with the literature discussed in Chapter 2, which indicates that polymers with higher molecular weight have slower surface erosion, and therefore lose mass at a slower rate than lower molecular weight polymers [31]. Subsequently, the rate of drug release from higher molecular weight samples would theoretically be slower than that of lower molecular weight polymers [30]. This is also consistent with the results from the first degradation study for 40 kDa and 80 kDa PLCL; within the first 20 days of drug release, 40 kDa PLCL had released more capecitabine at physiological conditions than the 80 kDa PLCL, most likely due to the difference in molecular weight. This has possible implications for altering the amount of drug delivered to a resection site over a specific period of time in order to maximize the efficiency of chemotherapeutic drug delivery.

The capecitabine-loaded polymer displayed two release profiles, which closely resembled these polymer degradation patterns. The results noted from the polymer's extended release pattern bear similarities to a variety of long-term chemotherapeutic treatments. Typically, stage III colorectal cancer patients who are treated with capecitabine receive oral doses periodically over a 6 month period after surgical resection of the tumor [98]. Cancer treatments, in concurrence with tumor resection surgery (adjuvant therapy), show promise as a potential application of this polymer, allowing direct deposit of the drug onto the site of resection. Further investigation of the two release behaviors is necessary to determine efficacy in killing toxic cells and preserving healthy tissue. However, the benefit of using capecitabine as compared to other chemotherapeutic drugs, such as 5-fluorouracil, is that it is enzymatically converted to its active form by thymidine phosphorylase [98]. This enzyme is more prevalent in cancer cells than it is in healthy tissue cells [98]. This potentially indicates that an SBS drug delivery system would be effective at locally targeting specifically cancer cells while not harming healthy cells.

An important mechanical property of biodegradable polymers used on tissues is their ability to adhere to said tissues at physiological conditions. There are methods to achieve this, however, currently many adhesive surgical sealants pose certain issues to the patient and surgeon. For instance, methods such as the use of fibrin glue are complex to prepare and administer directly to the surgical site, and hydrogen or protein-based surgical sealants cause tissue reaction, inflammation, infection, and/or swelling [76]. Additionally, the cohesion of the polymer fibers is essential for the application of the polymer in a long-term treatment, especially if the drug delivery is intended to be local and protect the patient against anastomotic leakage. A 2012 *in vivo* study by Norbury et al. [99] found that the pressure at which porcine intestinal tissue fails is between 0.0174 and 11.52 mmHg with a mean of 3.4 mmHg. Ideally, the polymer-drug solutions should not fail at a pressure lower than this average since this would ultimately prevent leakage from the intestine and promote localized treatment. While the efficacy of PLCL to withstand this amount of pressure would likely have to be determined through burst pressure testing and *in vivo* studies, we do know that the addition of drugs to the PLCL solution would not significantly influence the ability of PLCL to withstand this pressure. Additionally, sutures or surgical staples would still be used in this treatment method, which would seal the anastomosis through mechanical strength, while the fiber mat would add tensile strength to the anastomosis [76]. Therefore, the combined strength of the sutures/staples and the surgical sealant would have to withstand the pressure range discussed in the Norbury study. This has implications in future studies.

Chapter 6: Future Directions

While the current members of Team TUMOR are reaching the end of their time at University of Maryland, we feel the project could be continued. For this reason, we are hopeful that we will be able to propose this project to a younger cohort in the Gemstone Honors Program. A new team would be able to take our work and use it as a foundation to take the research in their own direction. Some possible future project directions include scanning electroscopy microscopy (SEM) imaging to observe the porosity and better characterize morphological changes during degradation. Ideally, these images would be taken on the days when we observed a burst release of drug in the Aim 2 studies. This way, the pore size of the fiber mat could be observed to determine if surface erosion is the cause of drug release. In addition to learning more about the morphological characteristics of the polymer, the identity, composition, and number of polymers in a system can be further investigated. The polymers we worked with indicated differing release patterns, so investigating mixed polymer systems could allow for more precise manipulation of drug release patterns, expanding the applications of the sealant. In vitro studies in cell cultures should be conducted to determine the efficacy of a drug-loaded sealant in killing cancer cells while preserving healthy cells. This is important for understanding our sealant's utility as a treatment method. While the pattern of release was characterized in this study, further cell studies must refine the concentration of drug incorporated to ensure that the dose of capecitabine released does not exceed the maximum tolerated dose at any time. Since this is a localized treatment, it is also important to confirm that the maximum tolerated dose is not different from the oral medication that is taken traditionally. In vivo studies with mice where the surgical sealant

is applied would be beneficial for analyzing the sealant in application and assessing the benefits or unintended consequences of localized chemotherapy. Team TUMOR is optimistic that the research we have conducted during our time in Gemstone will be well received by a younger cohort and can be used as a baseline to further study the incorporation of chemotherapeutic agents into polymers to create surgical sealants for localized and controlled drug release.

Additionally, while the current scope of the project has been focused on colorectal cancer, surgical sealants can be applied to a broad range of conditions that would benefit from a localized, extended drug release pattern. Through adjustment of the drugs incorporated and polymers used, the sealant can be used for other cancers, dermatological conditions, and periodontal diseases. As the sealant is composed of a drug and polymer, it is quite versatile; manipulating factors such as drug identity, drug concentration, polymer type, polymer weight, and method of application would allow sealants to be specialized to the conditions specific to various diseases.

Finally, whether through continued research by another Gemstone team or by the scientific community, more research can be done related to stimuli response of the polymer-drug complex. Further exploration of how conditions such as surrounding pH, temperature, and viscosity affect drug release and polymer degradation would be beneficial to our field of study as it would contribute additional understanding on how to adjust a sealant's properties to provide *in vivo* localized drug release under conditions that cannot be manipulated, such as ambient body temperature.

Appendix A: Abbreviations

kDa: kilodalton

PBS: Phosphate buffered saline

PCL: Polycaprolactone

PDLLA: Poly(DL-lactide)

PEG: Poly(ethylene glycol)

PGA: Poly(glycolic acid)

PLA: Polylactic acid

PLCL: Poly(L-lactide-co-ɛ-caprolactone)

PLGA: Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)

SBS: Solution blow spinning

SRL: Sirolimus

5-FU: Fluorouracil

Appendix B: Equity Impact Report

Commitment to Equity

The Gemstone Program is committed to creating a research environment that not only supports its diverse student population but also addresses the needs of a diverse world. Team TUMOR equally values diverse modes of thought and the accessibility of team findings to benefit all communities through research.

Colorectal cancer is not experienced equally among all people (Figure 13) [100]. The primary factor that contributes to the unequal distribution of colorectal cancer (CRC) incidence and deaths is socioeconomic status. A factor that commonly coincides with socioeconomic status is race. Age is also a large determining factor in the incidence of cases, but aging is experienced universally whereas socioeconomic status affects populations asymmetrically.



AI: American Indian, excluding Alaska; AN: Alaska Native. Rates are age adjusted to the 2000 US standard population. *Statistics based on data from Purchased/Referred Care Delivery Area (PRCDA) counties. Al/AN incidence rates exclude data from Kansas and Minnesota. Incidence rates for Alaska Native men and women are not statistically significantly different. Source: Incidence – NAACCR, 2019. Mortality – NCHS, 2019.

©2020, American Cancer Society, Inc., Surveillance Research

Figure 13. Colorectal Cancer Statistics by Race/Ethnicity [100]

In socioeconomically disadvantaged communities, the lower wages and longer work hours of the impoverished and working classes often necessitate cheaper diets that consist of large amounts of easily accessible fast foods [100]. While specific foods are difficult to correlate with CRC occurrence, the abundance of refined carbohydrates, processed sugar, and red meat in diets, typically associated with fast food and diets of socioeconomically disadvantaged populations, are associated with chronic bowel inflammation [100]. Chronic inflammation puts additional stress on the cells of the GI tract that increase the risk of the development of CRC. Obesity and diabetes also add additional cellular stress to the GI tract and metabolic pathways, and these conditions have been identified as prominent risk factors for developing cancer [101].

Numerous studies have indicated that those of lower socioeconomic status experience more frequent and severe health issues [102]. Racial minorities frequently fall within lower socioeconomic status. For example, Black and Hispanic populations have a ratio of approximately 0.06 to White populations in regards to median wealth; financial struggles commonly experienced by minorities ultimately causes poorer health as they are exposed to greater health risks and psychosocial stressors [102]. These disparities go beyond general health as racial and ethnic gaps in the incidence and mortality of CRC are noted as early as 1990 and have modulated over time [100]. In the racial and ethnic groups studied by the American Cancer Society, Blacks, Whites, and Hispanics have all decreased their incidence rates for CRC since the late 1990s. By 2017, the yearly incidence rates for new CRC cases per 100,000 people were at thirty-five for Hispanic populations, thirty-nine for White populations, and forty-seven for Black populations [100]. Also interesting to note is that the geographic distribution of CRC cases closely

resembles a geographic racial distribution with CRC cases highest in underserved minority neighborhoods and lowest in affluent neighborhoods [100]. Still remaining is the large gap between Black populations and White populations, and the American Cancer society notes that a major contributor to this gap is the lower frequency of screening and lower survival rates of stage-specific CRC cases among Black populations [100], [103]. Another emerging factor affecting screening and other preventative measures is the accessibility and availability of physicians to lower-income communities [104]. As more attention is put on screenings in the last decade, the specific Black-White gap has begun to narrow, but this progress has been slow [100]. Further research that demonstrates poorer survival rates among Black populations suggests that access to and quality of care may also play a role [105].

With further testing, this treatment method may provide a more affordable option to people of all communities while theoretically decreasing recurrence rates and limiting the amount of costly follow-up appointments and treatments. Additionally, a localized chemotherapy treatment, such as the one proposed, would eliminate the need for repeated visits to the doctor and save patients significant amounts of time on travel and follow up infusion treatments.

Commitment to Accessibility of Research

Team TUMOR's work aims to provide more affordable cancer treatment options that would allow underserved communities of all racial and ethnic identities, as well as socioeconomic backgrounds, the increased opportunity to seek treatment. While Team TUMOR's project mainly targets options for care following the development and progression of colorectal cancer, other efforts can be made to address accessibility of preventative measures that would improve the incidence of CRC cases in the population. Efforts particularly aimed at underserved communities that do not normally have access to colonoscopies could be instrumental in bridging the gap between wealthy and underserved communities.

Team TUMOR is also dedicated to ensuring that the methods and findings of our research are easily accessible to the public, regardless of a viewer's background. As such, the team aims to submit the findings of our work to an open access journal that does not require a fee or subscription to view the work done by the Team. By appearing in an open access journal, the Team hopes to alleviate the burdens and challenges created by costly subscriptions services and viewing fees that deter socioeconomically disadvantaged populations from accessing current literature in the field. The Team is committed to creating multiple versions of the abstract so that the work done by Team TUMOR can be easily digestible to people with various educational, socioeconomic, and cultural backgrounds. Without compromising the scientific integrity of the findings, communicating the abstract in ways that target various audiences would allow for the broadest use of our research project in promoting the fields of material science, bioengineering, and CRC research.

Commitment to Diversity

In addition to our work to make cancer treatment more affordable and accessible, Team TUMOR is comprised of a diverse group of individuals. In conjunction with Gemstone's dedication to diversity, inclusion, and equity, Team TUMOR echoes these

57

commitments by fostering a team environment of twelve students, consisting of six women, six members of racial and ethnic minorities, and four members of the LGBTQ+ community. As a diverse team, we seek to amplify the voices of those who have been underrepresented in the scientific community. By consolidating diverse voices to ruminate and propose solutions to localizing colorectal cancer treatments, the Team fosters a forward-thinking intellectual environment that represents the Team's and program's goals of promoting diversity in research and education.

Appendix C: COVID-19 Impact

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the team research was halted and experienced numerous setbacks. When the University of Maryland, College Park campus shut down in mid-March of 2020, the research lab was temporarily shut down as well. Due to the lab's closure, there were limited research capabilities for the Team due to the heavy wet-lab nature of the project. As such, the Team took advantage of this time away from the lab to draft a paper to be submitted to an open access journal. Once the lab reopened for students with social distancing and mask precautions in late-September 2020, some teammates were able to return to the lab to resume experiments. The time lost in the past year prevented us from fully testing many polymer-drug combinations that we discussed in our thesis. Thus, we focused on combinations that showed the most promise in previous data in order to optimize the remaining time we had.

Due to the strong financial start to our project, the pandemic did not hinder the funding opportunities for the team. The main setback was the inability to use the majority of the funding on attending a conference or purchasing more lab materials during what would have been the heaviest portion of the team's research from mid March through late September of 2020. These setbacks will most likely result in a surplus of team funds at the conclusion of the project.

References

- P.-M. Krarup, L. N. Jorgensen, and H. Harling, "Management of Anastomotic Leakage in a Nationwide Cohort of Colonic Cancer Patients," *J. Am. Coll. Surg.*, vol. 218, no. 5, pp. 940–949, May 2014, doi: 10/ghhsft.
- [2] M. Qiu, J. Hu, D. Yang, D. P. Cosgrove, and R. Xu, "Pattern of distant metastases in colorectal cancer: a SEER based study," *Oncotarget*, vol. 6, no. 36, Nov. 2015, doi: 10/f8f7w5.
- [3] A. Noone *et al.*, "SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2015," National Cancer Institute, Apr. 2018. Accessed: Mar. 21, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2015/.
- [4] E. E. Vokes, "Combined modality therapy of solid tumours," *The Lancet*, vol. 349, pp. S4–S6, May 1997, doi: 10/bht64s.
- [5] A. Pearce *et al.*, "Incidence and severity of self-reported chemotherapy side effects in routine care: A prospective cohort study," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 12, no. 10, p. e0184360, Oct. 2017, doi: 10/gb2nbx.
- [6] A. Jirillo, M. Stefani, F. Vascon, and S. Lonardi, "Adjuvant Systemic Chemotherapy with 5-Fluorouracil and Leucovorin in Colon Cancer: A Monoinstitutional Institutional Experience," *Immunopharmacol. Immunotoxicol.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 235–242, Jan. 2008, doi: 10/c8h554.
- B. Glimelius, H. Grönberg, J. Järhult, A. Wallgren, and E. Cavallin-ståhl, "A Systematic Overview of Radiation Therapy Effects in Rectal Cancer," *Acta Oncol.*, vol. 42, no. 5–6, pp. 476–492, Jan. 2003, doi: 10/d4phnq.
- [8] R. Takahashi et al., "Timing and site-specific trends of recurrence in patients with

pathological stage II or III gastric cancer after curative gastrectomy followed by adjuvant S-1 monotherapy," *Gastric Cancer*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1256–1262, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1007/s10120-019-00953-9.

- [9] "Colorectal Cancer Treatment | How to Treat Colorectal Cancer." https://www.cancer.org/cancer/colon-rectal-cancer/treating.html (accessed Dec. 06, 2020).
- [10] J. B. Wolinsky, Y. L. Colson, and M. W. Grinstaff, "Local drug delivery strategies for cancer treatment: Gels, nanoparticles, polymeric films, rods, and wafers," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 159, no. 1, pp. 14–26, Apr. 2012, doi: 10/dcjxqf.
- [11] J. L. Daristotle, A. M. Behrens, A. D. Sandler, and P. Kofinas, "A Review of the Fundamental Principles and Applications of Solution Blow Spinning," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 8, no. 51, pp. 34951–34963, Dec. 2016, doi: 10/gddxs8.
- [12] A. Jemal *et al.*, "Cancer Statistics, 2008," *CA. Cancer J. Clin.*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 71–96, Jan. 2008, doi: 10/fs9s3r.
- [13] A. M. Lacy *et al.*, "Laparoscopy-assisted colectomy versus open colectomy for treatment of non-metastatic colon cancer: a randomised trial," *The Lancet*, vol. 359, no. 9325, pp. 2224–2229, Jun. 2002, doi: 10/d8t4zb.
- [14] M. Todaro *et al.*, "Colon Cancer Stem Cells Dictate Tumor Growth and Resist Cell Death by Production of Interleukin-4," *Cell Stem Cell*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 389–402, Oct. 2007, doi: 10/ccb9fw.
- [15] Y. G. Malik *et al.*, "Stratification of Stage III colon cancer may identify a patient group not requiring adjuvant chemotherapy," *J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol.*, vol. 147, no. 1, pp. 61–71, Jan. 2021, doi: 10/gjj34w.

- [16] J. A. Meyerhardt *et al.*, "Association of Dietary Patterns With Cancer Recurrence and Survival in Patients With Stage III Colon Cancer," *JAMA*, vol. 298, no. 7, p. 754, Aug. 2007, doi: 10/ffsg6p.
- [17] L. Ricci-Vitiani *et al.*, "Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells," *Nature*, vol. 445, p. 111, Nov. 2006.
- [18] N. Khan, E. B. Cole, A. Abbas, and Y. N. Koleva, "Mo1240 Colorectal Cancer Recurrence Following Partial Colectomy for Colorectal Cancer in Patients With Ulcerative Colitis," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 144, no. 5, p. S-615, May 2013, doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(13)62273-8.
- [19] P. Kirchhoff, P.-A. Clavien, and D. Hahnloser, "Complications in colorectal surgery: risk factors and preventive strategies," *Patient Saf. Surg.*, vol. 4, no. 1, p. 5, 2010, doi: 10/c6p5nj.
- [20] K. A. Vakalopoulos *et al.*, "Tissue adhesives in gastrointestinal anastomosis: a systematic review," *J. Surg. Res.*, vol. 180, no. 2, pp. 290–300, Apr. 2013, doi: 10/f4sz9w.
- [21] J. R. McGregor, D. H. Reinbach, S. W. Dahill, and P. J. O'Dwyer, "Effect of fibrin sealant on perianastomotic tumor growth in an experimental model of colorectal cancer surgery," *Dis. Colon Rectum*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 834–839, Sep. 1993, doi: 10/dkrq9x.
- [22] C. Focaccetti *et al.*, "Effects of 5-Fluorouracil on Morphology, Cell Cycle, Proliferation, Apoptosis, Autophagy and ROS Production in Endothelial Cells and Cardiomyocytes," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 10, no. 2, p. e0115686, Feb. 2015, doi: 10/f65gk2.

- [23] C. M. Walko and C. Lindley, "Capecitabine: A review," *Clin. Ther.*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 23–44, Jan. 2005, doi: 10/b8pcf4.
- [24] L. R. Wiseman, J. C. Adkins, G. L. Plosker, and K. L. Goa, "Oxaliplatin," *Drugs Aging*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 459–475, Jun. 1999, doi: 10/b44qmq.
- [25] R. Tavakoli, S. Vakilian, F. Jamshidi-Adegani, S. Sharif, A. Ardeshirylajimi, and M. Soleimani, "Prolonged drug release using PCL-TMZ nanofibers induce the apoptotic behavior of U87 glioma cells," *Int. J. Polym. Mater.*, vol. 67, no. 15, pp. 873–878, Aug. 2018, doi: 10/ggr3gx.
- [26] W. Xu, K. Yagoshi, Y. Koga, M. Sasaki, and T. Niidome, "Optimized polymer coating for magnesium alloy-based bioresorbable scaffolds for long-lasting drug release and corrosion resistance," *Colloids Surf. B Biointerfaces*, vol. 163, pp. 100–106, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.12.032.
- [27] H. Ihre, O. Padilla de Jesus, F. Szoka, and J. Frechet, "Polyester Dendritic Systems for Drug Delivery Applications: Design, Synthesis, and Characterization," *Bioconjugate Chem*, vol. 13, p. 443–452, 2002.
- [28] K. Derakhshandeh, M. Erfan, and S. Dadashzadeh, "Encapsulation of 9-nitrocamptothecin, a novel anticancer drug, in biodegradable nanoparticles: Factorial design, characterization and release kinetics," *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, vol. 66, no. 1, pp. 34–41, Apr. 2007, doi: 10/bh2xz8.
- [29] R. Mangal, S. Srivastava, S. Narayanan, and L. A. Archer, "Size-Dependent Particle Dynamics in Entangled Polymer Nanocomposites," *Langmuir*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 596–603, Jan. 2016, doi: 10/ghnvck.
- [30] K. Żółtowska, U. Piotrowska, E. Oledzka, U. Luchowska, M. Sobczak, and A.

Bocho-Janiszewska, "Development of biodegradable polyesters with various microstructures for highly controlled release of epirubicin and cyclophosphamide," *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 96, pp. 440–448, Jan. 2017, doi: 10/ggr3g6.

- [31] J. Braunecker, M. Baba, G. E. Milroy, and R. E. Cameron, "The effects of molecular weight and porosity on the degradation and drug release from polyglycolide," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 282, no. 1, pp. 19–34, Sep. 2004, doi: 10/cb6md3.
- [32] E. Diaz, I. Sandonis, and M. Blanca Valle, "In Vitro Degradation of Poly(caprolactone)/nHA Composites," J. Nanomater., 2014, doi: 10/gb6w9k.
- [33] M. Upadhyay, S. Kumar Reddy Adena, H. Vardhan, S. K. Yadav, and B. Mishra,
 "Development of biopolymers based interpenetrating polymeric network of capecitabine: A drug delivery vehicle to extend the release of the model drug," *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.*, vol. 115, pp. 907–919, 2018.
- [34] C. Bouissou, J. J. Rouse, R. Price, and C. F. van der Walle, "The Influence of Surfactant on PLGA Microsphere Glass Transition and Water Sorption: Remodeling the Surface Morphology to Attenuate the Burst Release," *Pharm. Res.*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 1295–1305, Jun. 2006, doi: 10/frc2t8.
- [35] M. Vera, J. Puiggalí, and J. Coudane, "Microspheres from new biodegradable poly(ester amide)s with different ratios of L - and D -alanine for controlled drug delivery," *J. Microencapsul.*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 686–697, Jan. 2006, doi: 10/fj4fk6.
- [36] S. Sant, V. Nadeau, and P. Hildgen, "Effect of porosity on the release kinetics of propafenone-loaded PEG-g-PLA nanoparticles," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 203–214, Oct. 2005, doi: 10/bs87hm.
- [37] T. Morita, Y. Horikiri, T. Suzuki, and H. Yoshino, "Applicability of various

amphiphilic polymers to the modification of protein release kinetics from biodegradable reservoir-type microspheres," *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 45–53, Jan. 2001, doi: 10/dvvbbj.

- [38] L. J. Del Valle, A. Díaz, M. Royo, A. Rodríguez-Galán, and J. Puiggalí,
 "Biodegradable polyesters reinforced with triclosan loaded polylactide micro/nanofibers: Properties, release and biocompatibility," *Express Polym. Lett.*,
 vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 266–282, Apr. 2012, doi: 10.3144/expresspolymlett.2012.30.
- [39] P. K. Gupta, S. Pappuru, S. Gupta, B. Patra, D. Chakraborty, and R. S. Verma,
 "Self-assembled dual-drug loaded core-shell nanoparticles based on metal-free fully alternating polyester for cancer theranostics," *Mater. Sci. Eng. C*, vol. 101, pp. 448–463, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2019.03.041.
- [40] S.-F. Chou, D. Carson, and K. A. Woodrow, "Current strategies for sustaining drug release from electrospun nanofibers," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 220, pp. 584–591, Dec. 2015, doi: 10/f77gvs.
- [41] Y. Yuan, K. Choi, S.-O. Choi, and J. Kim, "Early stage release control of an anticancer drug by drug-polymer miscibility in a hydrophobic fiber-based drug delivery system," *RSC Adv.*, no. 35, 2018, doi: 10/ggr3g3.
- [42] V. Korzhikov, I. Averianov, E. Litvinchuk, and T. B. Tennikova, "Polyester-based microparticles of different hydrophobicity: the patterns of lipophilic drug entrapment and release," *J. Microencapsul.*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 199–208, Apr. 2016, doi: 10.3109/02652048.2016.1144818.
- [43] L. Osorno, D. Maldonado, and R. Whitener, "Amphiphilic PLGA-PEG-PLGA triblock copolymer nanogels varying in gelation temperature and modulus for the

extended and controlled release of hyaluronic acid," *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, 2019, doi: https://doi-org.proxy-um.researchport.umd.edu/10.1002/app.48678.

- [44] J. Zou, W. Shi, J. Wang, and J. Bo, "Encapsulation and Controlled Release of a Hydrophobic Drug Using a Novel Nanoparticle-Forming Hyperbranched Polyester," *Macromol. Biosci.*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 662–668, 2005, doi: 10.1002/mabi.200500015.
- [45] A. Visan, G. Popescu-Pelin, and O. Gherasim, "Long-Term Evaluation of Dip-Coated PCL-Blend-PEG Coatings in Simulated Conditions," *Polymers*, vol. 12, p. 717, 2020, doi: doi:10.3390/polym12030717.
- [46] H. Zhang *et al.*, "Hyperbranched Polyester Hydrogels with Controlled Drug Release and Cell Adhesion Properties," *Biomacromolecules*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 1299–1310, May 2013, doi: 10/f4vvnq.
- [47] A. A. Vassiliou, S. A. Papadimitriou, D. N. Bikiaris, G. Mattheolabakis, and K. Avgoustakis, "Facile synthesis of polyester-PEG triblock copolymers and preparation of amphiphilic nanoparticles as drug carriers," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 148, no. 3, pp. 388–395, Dec. 2010.
- [48] B. C. Geiger, M. T. Nelson, H. R. Munj, D. L. Tomasko, and J. J. Lannutti, "Dual drug release from CO₂ -infused nanofibers via hydrophobic and hydrophilic interactions," *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 132, no. 38, p. n/a-n/a, Oct. 2015, doi: 10/ggcj4k.
- [49] M. Ranjbar-Mohammadi, M. Zamani, M. P. Prabhakaran, S. H. Bahrami, and S. Ramakrishna, "Electrospinning of PLGA/gum tragacanth nanofibers containing tetracycline hydrochloride for periodontal regeneration," *Mater. Sci. Eng. C*, vol. 58, pp. 521–531, Jan. 2016, doi: 10/ggr3gz.
- [50] J. Huang, R. J. Wigent, and J. B. Schwartz, "Drug–polymer interaction and its significance on the physical stability of nifedipine amorphous dispersion in microparticles of an ammonio methacrylate copolymer and ethylcellulose binary blend," *J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 251–262, Jan. 2008, doi: 10.1002/jps.21072.
- [51] A. Pellis *et al.*, "Enzyme-catalyzed functionalization of poly(L-lactic acid) for drug delivery applications," *Process Biochem.*, vol. 59, pp. 77–83, Aug. 2017, doi: 10/ggr3g4.
- [52] T. W. J. Steele *et al.*, "Tuning drug release in polyester thin films: terminal end-groups determine specific rates of additive-free controlled drug release," *NPG Asia Mater.*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. e46–e46, Apr. 2013, doi: 10/ggr3g8.
- [53] C. Regnier-Delplace *et al.*, "PLGAs bearing carboxylated side chains: Novel matrix formers with improved properties for controlled drug delivery," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 166, no. 3, pp. 256–267, Mar. 2013, doi: 10/f4snp9.
- [54] J. Kasperczyk, K. Stoklosa, P. Dobrzynski, K. Stepien, B. Kaczmarczyk, and A. Dzierzega-Lecznar, "Designing bioresorbable polyester matrices for controlled doxorubicin release in glioma therapy," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 382, no. 1–2, pp. 124–129, Dec. 2009, doi: 10/dt4pw9.
- [55] Z.-Z. Piao *et al.*, "Comparison of release-controlling efficiency of polymeric coating materials using matrix-type casted films and diffusion-controlled coated particles," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 630–636, Jun. 2010, doi: 10/b38pg5.
- [56] S. Manna, A. M. Donnell, N. Kaval, M. F. Al-Rjoub, J. J. Augsburger, and R. K. Banerjee, "Improved design and characterization of PLGA/PLA-coated Chitosan

based micro-implants for controlled release of hydrophilic drugs," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 547, no. 1–2, pp. 122–132, Aug. 2018, doi: 10/gdzkqc.

- [57] Y. Su, Q. Su, W. Liu, G. Jin, X. Mo, and S. Ramakrishn, "Dual-Drug Encapsulation and Release from Core-Shell Nanofibers," *J. Biomater. Sci. -- Polym. Ed.*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 861–871, Feb. 2012, doi: 10.1163/092050611X564137.
- [58] I. Mylonaki, O. Trosi, E. Allémann, M. Durand, O. Jordan, and F. Delie, "Design and characterization of a perivascular PLGA coated PET mesh sustaining the release of atorvastatin for the prevention of intimal hyperplasia," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 537, no. 1, pp. 40–47, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.12.026.
- [59] G. Kim, H. Yoon, and Y. Park, "Drug release from various thicknesses of layered mats consisting of electrospun polycaprolactone and polyethylene oxide micro/nanofibers," *Appl. Phys. Mater. Sci. Process.*, vol. 100, no. 4, pp. 1197–1204, Sep. 2010, doi: 10.1007/s00339-010-5785-y.
- [60] D. R. Daniels, T. C. B. McLeish, B. J. Crosby, R. N. Young, and C. M. Fernyhough,
 "Molecular Rheology of Comb Polymer Melts. 1. Linear Viscoelastic Response,"
 Macromolecules, vol. 34, no. 20, pp. 7025–7033, Sep. 2001, doi: 10/fjxf3j.
- [61] C. J. Hawker, "Architectural Control in 'Living' Free Radical Polymerizations: Preparation of Star and Graft Polymers," *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, vol. 34, no. 13–14, pp. 1456–1459, 1995, doi: 10/bvp6dt.
- [62] A. Breitenbach, Y. X. Li, and T. Kissel, "Branched biodegradable polyesters for parenteral drug delivery systems," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 167–178, Feb. 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00134-0.
- [63] C. Hu and W. Cui, "Hierarchical Structure of Electrospun Composite Fibers for

Long-Term Controlled Drug Release Carriers," *Adv. Healthc. Mater.*, vol. 1, no. 6, pp. 809–814, 2012, doi: 10/fz6hnq.

- [64] N. G. Kern *et al.*, "Solution blow spun polymer: A novel preclinical surgical sealant for bowel anastomoses," *J. Pediatr. Surg.*, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 1308–1312, Aug. 2017, doi: 10/gbqxzb.
- [65] G. Schliecker, C. Schmidt, S. Fuchs, and T. Kissel, "Characterization and in vitro degradation of poly(2,3-(1,4-diethyl tartrate)-co-2,3-isopropyliden tartrate)," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 98, no. 1, pp. 11–23, Jul. 2004, doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2004.03.035.
- [66] J. S. Soares and P. Zunino, "A mixture model for water uptake, degradation, erosion and drug release from polydisperse polymeric networks," *Biomaterials*, vol. 31, no. 11, pp. 3032–3042, Apr. 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.01.008.
- [67] L. L. Lao, S. S. Venkatraman, and N. A. Peppas, "Modeling of drug release from biodegradable polymer blends," *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 796–803, Nov. 2008, doi: 10/d28xfb.
- [68] M. Dinari, F. Bina, and T. Khayamian, "Poly(vinyl alcohol)-based electrospun nanofibers for the sustained release of celecoxib: Characterization and evaluation of drug release mechanism," *Polym. Compos.*, vol. 39, pp. E221–E227, Apr. 2018, doi: 10/gdhch6.
- [69] A. Radisavljevic *et al.*, "Cefazolin-loaded polycaprolactone fibers produced via different electrospinning methods: Characterization, drug release and antibacterial effect," *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.*, vol. 124, pp. 26–36, Nov. 2018, doi: 10/gfjbnq.
- [70] R. Yang et al., "A mathematical model for pulsatile release: Controlled release of

rhodamine B from UV-crosslinked thermoresponsive thin films," *Int. J. Pharm.*, vol. 427, no. 2, pp. 320–327, May 2012, doi: 10/gg229g.

- [71] S. Y. Tzeng *et al.*, "Thermostabilization of inactivated polio vaccine in PLGA-based microspheres for pulsatile release," *J. Controlled Release*, vol. 233, pp. 101–113, Jul. 2016, doi: 10/f8sf3p.
- [72] A. Lisik and W. Musiał, "Conductomeric Evaluation of the Release Kinetics of Active Substances from Pharmaceutical Preparations Containing Iron Ions," *Materials*, vol. 12, no. 5, Mar. 2019, doi: 10/ggtzzs.
- [73] N. Carreras, V. Acuña, M. Martí, and M. J. Lis, "Drug release system of ibuprofen in PCL-microspheres," *Colloid Polym. Sci.*, vol. 291, no. 1, pp. 157–165, Jan. 2013, doi: 10.1007/s00396-012-2768-x.
- [74] M. H. Shoaib *et al.*, "Development and Evaluation of Hydrophilic Colloid Matrix of Famotidine Tablets," *AAPS PharmSciTech*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 708–718, Jun. 2010, doi: 10/drb3j2.
- [75] M. S. Paolini, O. S. Fenton, C. Bhattacharya, J. L. Andresen, and R. Langer,
 "Polymers for extended-release administration," *Biomed. Microdevices*, vol. 21, no. 2, p. 45, Jun. 2019, doi: 10/ggt2fc.
- [76] A. M. Behrens *et al.*, "Biodegradable-Polymer-Blend-Based Surgical Sealant with Body-Temperature-Mediated Adhesion," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 27, no. 48, pp. 8056–8061, Dec. 2015, doi: 10/f3jv73.
- [77] A. C. Bedeloğlu, S. K. Bhullar, I. Borazan, Z. I. Cin, and A. Demir, "Manufacturing and morphology of poly(-caprolactone) based microfibre webs for biomedical applications through airbrush technique," *Indian J. Fibre Text. Res. IJFTR*, vol. 42,

no. 1, pp. 38–42, Mar. 2017.

- [78] H. Sun, L. Mei, C. Song, X. Cui, and P. Wang, "The in vivo degradation, absorption and excretion of PCL-based implant," *Biomaterials*, vol. 27, no. 9, pp. 1735–1740, Mar. 2006, doi: 10/cqpkqd.
- [79] P. G. Johnston, F. Geoffrey, J. Drake, D. Voeller, J. L. Grem, and C. J. Allegra, "The cellular interaction of 5-fluorouracil and cisplatin in a human colon carcinoma cell line," *Eur. J. Cancer*, vol. 32, no. 12, pp. 2148–2154, Nov. 1996, doi: 10/b6g88v.
- [80] L. Pendyala and P. J. Creaven, "In vitro cytotoxicity, protein binding, red blood cell partitioning, and biotransformation of oxaliplatin," *Cancer Res.*, vol. 53, no. 24, pp. 5970–5976, Dec. 1993.
- [81] G. Srinubabu, D. P. Rao, L. Sridhar, and J. V. L. N. S. Rao, "Spectrophotometric Method for the Determination of Oxaliplatin in Pure and Dosage Forms," *E-J. Chem.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 25–27, 2006, doi: 10.1155/2006/375721.
- [82] J. L. Daristotle *et al.*, "Improving the adhesion, flexibility, and hemostatic efficacy of a sprayable polymer blend surgical sealant by incorporating silica particles," *Acta Biomater.*, vol. 90, pp. 205–216, May 2019, doi: 10/ghnvcj.
- [83] M. A. Lorente, A. Corral, and J. González-Benito, "PCL/collagen blends prepared by solution blow spinning as potential materials for skin regeneration," *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 138, no. 21, p. 50493, 2021, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/app.50493.
- [84] B. A. W. Jacobs *et al.*, "A phase 0 clinical trial of novel candidate extended-release formulations of capecitabine," *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.*, vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 1201–1207, Jun. 2016, doi: 10/f8p3h9.

- [85] K. M. Kang *et al.*, "Optimal Time of Initiating Adjuvant Chemotherapy After Curative Surgery in Colorectal Cancer Patients," *Ann. Coloproctology*, vol. 29, no. 4, p. 150, 2013, doi: 10/gcbzn9.
- [86] X. Xie *et al.*, "Efficacy and Toxicity of Low-Dose versus Conventional-Dose Chemotherapy for Malignant Tumors: a Meta-Analysis of 6 Randomized Controlled Trials," *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.*, vol. 18, no. 2, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2017.18.2.479.
- [87] G. Des Guetz, B. Uzzan, J.-F. Morere, G. Perret, and P. Nicolas, "Duration of adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with non-metastatic colorectal cancer," *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.*, no. 1, p. CD007046, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007046.pub2.
- [88] S.-F. Chou, D. Carson, and K. A. Woodrow, "Relationships between mechanical properties and drug release from electrospun fibers of PCL and PLGA blends," *J. Mech. Behav. Biomed. Mater.*, vol. 65, pp. 724–733, Jan. 2017, doi: 10/ggr3hh.
- [89] M. M. Mirhosseini, V. Haddadi-Asl, and S. Sh. Zargarian, "Fabrication and characterization of hydrophilic poly(ε-caprolactone)/pluronic P123 electrospun fibers," J. Appl. Polym. Sci., vol. 133, no. 17, p. n/a-n/a, May 2016, doi: 10/ghhtdr.
- [90] A. Backshall, R. Sharma, S. J. Clarke, and H. C. Keun, "Pharmacometabonomic Profiling as a Predictor of Toxicity in Patients with Inoperable Colorectal Cancer Treated with Capecitabine," *Clin. Cancer Res.*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 3019–3028, May 2011, doi: 10/d5m3wj.
- [91] H. K. Makadia and S. J. Siegel, "Poly Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid (PLGA) as Biodegradable Controlled Drug Delivery Carrier," *Polymers*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp.

72

1377-1397, Sep. 2011, doi: 10.3390/polym3031377.

- [92] P. Gentile, V. Chiono, I. Carmagnola, and P. V. Hatton, "An Overview of Poly(lactic-co-glycolic) Acid (PLGA)-Based Biomaterials for Bone Tissue Engineering," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 3640–3659, Feb. 2014, doi: 10/gchmwc.
- [93] L. Lu, C. A. Garcia, and A. G. Mikos, "In vitro degradation of thin poly(DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid) films," *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 236–244, Aug. 1999, doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-4636(199908)46:2<236::aid-jbm13>3.0.co;2-f.
- [94] S. Boimvaser, R. N. Mariano, L. N. Turino, and J. R. Vega, "In vitro bulk/surface erosion pattern of PLGA implant in physiological conditions: a study based on auxiliary microsphere systems," *Polym. Bull.*, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 209–227, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1007/s00289-015-1481-6.
- [95] L. G. Griffith, "Polymeric biomaterials," *Acta Mater.*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 263–277, Jan. 2000, doi: 10.1016/S1359-6454(99)00299-2.
- [96] L. L. Lao, S. S. Venkatraman, and N. A. Peppas, "A novel model and experimental analysis of hydrophilic and hydrophobic agent release from biodegradable polymers," *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A*, vol. 90A, no. 4, pp. 1054–1065, 2009, doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.32171.
- [97] A. Göpferich, "Polymer Bulk Erosion," *Macromolecules*, vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 2598–2604, May 1997, doi: 10.1021/ma961627y.
- [98] C. Twelves *et al.*, "Capecitabine as Adjuvant Treatment for Stage III Colon Cancer,"
 N. Engl. J. Med., vol. 352, no. 26, pp. 2696–2704, Jun. 2005, doi:

10.1056/NEJMoa043116.

- [99] K. C. Norbury, D. V. Kilpadi, B. A. Collins, and M. R. Cunningham, "Burst Strength Testing of Porcine Intestinal Anastomoses Following Negative Pressure Therapy," *Surg. Innov.*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 181–186, Jun. 2012, doi: 10/fw86wd.
- [100] W. Street, "Colorectal Cancer Facts & Figures 2020-2022," Am. Cancer Soc., p. 48, 2020.
- [101] A. S. Greenberg and M. S. Obin, "Obesity and the role of adipose tissue in inflammation and metabolism," *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.*, vol. 83, no. 2, pp. 461S-465S, Feb. 2006, doi: 10/gfs2md.
- [102] D. R. Williams, N. Priest, and N. Anderson, "Understanding Associations between Race, Socioeconomic Status and Health: Patterns and Prospects," *Health Psychol. Off. J. Div. Health Psychol. Am. Psychol. Assoc.*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 407–411, Apr. 2016, doi: 10/f8hqkn.
- [103] R. Ranganathan, S. A. Adams, W. E. Zahnd, P. Hung, M. J. Brown, and J. M. Eberth, "Rural and Racial Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Incidence and Mortality in South Carolina, 1996 2016," *Ann. Epidemiol.*, vol. 52, pp. 110–111, Dec. 2020, doi: 10/gh3dqp.
- [104] S. Soneji, K. Armstrong, and D. A. Asch, "Socioeconomic and Physician Supply Determinants of Racial Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Screening," *J. Oncol. Pract.*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. e125–e134, Sep. 2012, doi: 10/f4349f.
- [105] A. L. White, S. W. Vernon, L. Franzini, and X. L. Du, "Racial Disparities in Colorectal Cancer Survival: To What Extent Are Racial Disparities Explained by Differences in Treatment, Tumor or Hospital Characteristics?," *Cancer*, vol. 116,

no. 19, pp. 4622-4631, Oct. 2010, doi: 10/bp82f6.